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PART |

Insmed may from time to time make written or ofakrard-looking statements”, including statemendsitained in our filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (includingAisual Report on Form 10-K and the Exhibits herid thereto), in our reports to
stockholders and in other communications. Suckestahts give our current expectations or forecakfatare events; they do not relate
strictly to historical or current facts. One careidtify these forward-looking statements by the@ ofwords such as “may,” “could,”
“should,” “would,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “estima te,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “projects,” “outlo ok” or similar expressions. In
particular, these include statements relating to beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, future actigm®spective products or product approv:
future performance or results of current and amated products, the outcome of contingencies, agdbgal proceedings, and financ
results. These statements are based upon the ¢uretinfs and expectations of management and djgstto significant risks and
uncertainties. Our actual results may differ maddlyi from those set forth in the forward-lookingtetments. Forward-looking statements
involve certain risks and uncertainties that aréjeat to change based on various factors (manyhi¢lware beyond our control). Factors
that could cause or contribute to differences in actual results include those discussed in Iteamder the section entitled “Risk Factors
Related to Our Busine” as well as those discussed in Item 7 under thti@e entitled “Management’s Discussion and Anaysi Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhareughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K and my ather documents incorporated
by reference. We undertake no obligation to pupligdate forward-looking statements, whether assalt of new information, future events
or otherwise. You are advised, however, to coraultfurther disclosures we make on related subjeatsir 10-Q and 8-K reports to the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

ITEM1. BUSINESS

Overview

Insmed Incorporated is a biopharmaceutical compacysed on the development and commercializatiarudg products for the
treatment of metabolic diseases and endocrineakssarCurrently, our development activities focasdougs that modulate IGF-I activity in
the human body. We currently have 3 lead drug chkates, recombinant human insulin-like growth fadtbound to recombinant human
insulin-like growth factor binding protein-3 (rhiIGKFhIGFBP-3; also known as SomatoKifig¢ rhiIGFBP-3 and INSM-18. We are actively
developing these drugs to treat indications inntle¢abolic and oncology fields.

The endocrine system regulates metabolism thradugluse of hormones. IGF-I is a naturally occurfiognone necessary for normal
growth and metabolism. Growth hormone (GH) regsldte cellular production of IGF-I, which mediatee majority of its growth-
promoting effects. In the human body, IGF-I cird¢atain the bloodstream bound to a second protdliedcB5FBP-3, which serves to regulate
the tissue distribution of IGF-I, therefore playiagnajor role in controlling its actions. GH defioty (GHD) results in inadequate IGF-I
production, which can result in growth disturbamcehildren. GH replacement therapy causes anaser@n IGF-I levels and is used to
successfully treat this condition. However, we dgdi many individuals have normal GH secretion Haaause their cells are insensitive to
this hormone they become IGF-I deficient and suff@m growth disturbance. Individuals with this dition are candidates for IGF-I
replacement therapy. We believe that to ensurd@fad replacement is carried out in a physioloticeelevant way, it is desirable to
administer it bound to IGFBP-3, therefore maintagnihe normal equilibrium of these important progein the bloodstream. rhIGF-
I/rhIGFBP-3 is a recombinant protein complex thanins the effects of IGF-I/IGFBP-3 in the bloodstne.

rhiGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 is currently in development fonamber of metabolic and endocrine indications. st advanced indication in
development is the treatment of severe growth disfice due to growth hormone insensitivity syndr¢@id|S) (i.e., Laron’s Syndrome). In
children, this condition is characterized by a heig



Table of Contents

standard deviation score three standard devialieltsv normal and an IGFstandard deviation score three standard devisti@how normal
GHIS can lead to a range of other metabolic digsrdecluding lipid abnormalities, decreased boeesity, obesity and insulin resistance.

We have been granted Orphan Drug Designation byttited States Food and Drug Administration (FDAJ &uropean Agency for
the Evaluation of Medicinal Products (EMEA) for @#-I/rhIGFBP-3 in the treatment of GHIS. A worldwiéhase Il clinical trial for this
indication is in progress.

We have been granted an exclusive license fromnPd@a (now Pfizer) to a large data base of histbtieatment information and
regulatory submissions associated with rhiIGF-l.rRla&ia received approval of rhIGF-I for the treatinegf GHIS in the majority of countries
now in the European Union. We believe this excledizense to Pharmacia’s regulatory dossiers amer abformation will be of value to us
during our product registration process for rhIGHIGFBP-3. The data received through this licenstide results from over 100 patients
with GHIS who were treated intermittently for uplé years with rhiGF-I.

We believe the commercial opportunities for rhiGHIGFBP-3 reach beyond the indication of GHIS amat tnitial approval of our
rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 may offer us an opportunity taemother potentially very large markets. Thesekatrinclude other growth disturbances
related to IGF-I deficiency, severe insulin resis&® diabetes, myotonic dystrophy, HIV associatbdase redistribution syndrome, severe
burns and hip fracture. It is our intention toiati¢ clinical studies in a variety of these indieas with rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3. Based on the
results from these studies we will select the fredication to pursue for marketing authorization.

Our oncology program focuses on IGFBP-3 as a niturecurring anti-tumor agent. This protein is mally found in the human
bloodstream and several epidemiological studieg l@monstrated that cancer risk increases withedsitrg blood levels of IGFBP-3.
rhIGFBP-3 is a recombinant protein that mimicseffects of IGFBP-3 in the bloodstream. This prodaaturrently in pre-clinical
development for a variety of cancers including ghokthe breast, lung, colon and prostate. A phasgical study to study safety and
tolerance in human volunteers is in progress.

Insmed is also initiating clinical studies of a quound known as INSM-18, which has novel effectst@nactivity of the IGH-and othe
receptors that can lead to the inhibition of growtivarious tumors. Insmed is currently planning dinical development of this compounc
collaboration with the University of California, 8&rancisco School of Medicine and is preparingpittate an exploratory clinical study in
patients with relapsed prostate cancer.

Corporate History

In November 1999, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc.soacessor entity, entered into an agreement tairgcGeltrix Pharmaceuticals Inc.
(Celtrix). Celtrix was a biopharmaceutical comp&ogused on developing novel therapeutics for teatinent of seriously debilitating,
degenerative conditions primarily associated wibese trauma, chronic diseases or aging. The ttdaraclosed on May 31, 2000, at which
time Celtrix and Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. becatmolly-owned subsidiaries of the newly formedtgntnsmed Incorporated, which was
incorporated in the Commonwealth of Virgina on Nower 29, 1999.

On June 1, 2000, we began trading on The Nasda{GapaVarket on June 1, 2000 under the ticker syrit&M.” We moved from
The Nasdag SmallCap Market to the Nasdaq Natiorzak&t on August 8, 2000.

Scientific Background
Role of IGF-I and IGFBP-3 in Growth

Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-I) is required famormal growth, development and metabolism. frizduced locally in tissues
throughout the body, and also circulates in thedlwm be delivered to target tissues. The majaftyirculating IGF-1, which is largely
produced by the liver, is bound to IGF binding pins (IGFBPS), principally IGFBP-3. The major rofel GFBP-3 is to regulate the tissue
distribution and activity of IGF-I.
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IGF-I binds to IGFBP-3 with high affinity to formlainary complex, which in turns binds to an acidi subunit (ALS) to form a
ternary complex. All three components of the teyramplex are growth hormone (GH)-dependent. IG#the principal mediator of the
growth-promoting properties of GH. GH-induced IGRHat is either produced locally or delivered tha circulation, stimulates cartilage and
bone and the growth plates of long bones and isgsaey for normal accrual of peak bone mass.

Insufficient blood levels of IGF-I (IGF-I deficieg¥ during childhood and adolescence result in ghdfailure and short stature. In some
cases, this is the result of inadequate GH quaatityioactivity. Children with low levels of GH (GHieficiency) can generally be treated with
recombinant human GH (rhGH) replacement therapyltieg in normalization of IGF-I production andda-up growth in most patients.
However, there are a number of conditions in wh@h-I deficiency can occur despite normal or evievated levels of GH. These
abnormalities are known collectively as GH inseéwisjt syndrome (GHIS), and can result from eitherdditary or acquired conditions. These
forms of IGF-I deficiency are unresponsive to rh@eatment.

IGF-1 deficiency due to GHIS can be the result ehgtic abnormalities involving the GH receptor tiras genes in the GH signal
transduction pathway or be the result of mutatiorthe IGF-1 gene itself. Acquired conditions indtuthe development of neutralizing
antibodies to GH in response to rhGH treatmentilden with deletions of the GH gene (GH deficigtigpe 1A). Regardless of the cause of
IGF-1 deficiency, replacement therapy with rhiGEain correct the abnormality. Co-administrationfdaF-1 with rhIGFBP3 can accomplis
this in a more physiologic manner by delivering t&&-I to tissues bound to its natural regulatomgtein.

Role of IGF-I and IGFBP-3 in Glucose Metabolism

Insulin is the primary hormone responsible for colting glucose metabolism. Although less potetrtinsulin, IGF-1 is capable of
stimulating hepatic and muscle glucose uptake. IG&n affect the set point for insulin action alikk insulin, block protein and lipid
breakdown. IGH-causes a decrease in circulating GH levels viatiee feedback, which further affects glucose imaliam. Thus, the propt
balance of insulin, GH and IGF-I is extremely imgaot for normal glucose metabolism.

Short-term clinical studies with rhIGF-I/rhiIGFBPa8d longer-term studies with rhiI@Feported in scientific literature demonstratet!
IGF-1 therapy can reduce insulin requirements, orprglycemic control, and increase insulin senisjtivn both type 1 and type 2 diabetes.
Fujisawa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., with whom Insrhad entered into a license agreement (see St&Retationships), has received
approval of rhIGF-I in Japan for the treatmenttaf tost severe forms of diabetes, referred to merag insulin resistance. Extreme insulin
resistance includes a number of chronic diseastingiiished by severe insensitivity to insulin doénherited or acquired causes. Treatment
with rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 is intended to improved géroic control and reduce insulin dose requirementkis patient population.

Role of IGF-I and IGFBP-3 in Cancer

IGF-1 plays an essential role in normal growth tigbout fetal and childhood development. In adédt iGF-1 continues to function by
regulating cellular metabolism, inducing cell divis and protecting against cell death. IGFBP-3ié&srhost abundant naturally-occurring IGF-
| binding protein in the circulation and contraietactions of IGF-1 by regulating its tissue distition. When bound to IGFBP-3, IGF-I is
incapable of binding to the IGF-I receptor. IGFBRISo has independent actions of its own that chibit cell proliferation and stimulate cell
death.

A number of epidemiological studies suggest thetdased circulating levels of IGFBP-3 are assodiatih a decreased risk for the
development of several common cancers, includingdtof the prostate, lung, rectum and bladder.éfbeg, administration of rhiIGFBP-3
may represent a novel therapeutic approach toiatyaf human cancers. Insmed has initiated aadinprogram with prominent oncologists
to develop rhiIGFBP-3 as a therapeutic agent. Te, dat have evaluated the efficacy of rhIGFBP-3 aland in combination with standard
chemotherapeutic agents in pre-clinical modelsreést, lung, prostate and colon cancers.

5
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Insmed is also initiating clinical studies of a quound known as INSM-18, which has novel effectstmnactivity of the IGH-and othe
receptors that can lead to the inhibition of groativarious tumors. Insmed is currently planning dinical development of this compounc
collaboration with the University of California, 8&rancisco School of Medicine and is preparingpittate an exploratory clinical study in
patients with relapsed prostate cancer.

Primary Therapeutic Indications
Growth Failure Due to GHIS Resulting in IGF-1 Defieency

GHIS is a condition affecting a specific subsepafients suffering from growth failure because deficiency in IGF-1. This deficiency
can be due to hereditary or acquired defects ifGiHeeceptor or GH signal transduction. Charadiegf this condition include:

» normal or elevated serum GH levels

« inability to generate normal IGF-I levels after @kbvocation

* reduced serum IGF-I and IGFBP-3 levels

» severe postnatal growth failure and markedly redwachult height (120-140 cm)

 truncal adiposity

» delayed skeletal maturation

» abnormal craniofacial development

Physicians use height standard deviation scoreeight SDS, to indicate how many standard deviateperson’s height is from the
average of the normal population of the same adesar. The American Academy of Pediatrics and the#Acan Academy of Clinical
Endocrinology define short stature as a heightithatore than two standard deviations below theame Children with severe GHIS

typically have height SDS < -3. Similarly, in evating IGF-1 deficiency, physicians can use an IGFDIS < -2 to define abnormally low
serum IGF-I levels.

Extreme Insulin Resistance

Insulin resistance describes an abnormality whetlke®yody is incapable of responding appropriatelgirculating insulin. This
abnormality can occur in many forms and resultgairying degrees of disease severity. Extreme insakistance can result from defects in
the insulin receptor gene or other genes involnadsulin signal transduction. These conditionsude:

» Type A and Type B syndrome
» Rabson-Mendenhall syndrome
e Leprechaunism

Type A syndrome patients have high circulating emmiations of insulin with impaired glucose tolezaror diabetes. They also have
hyperandrogenism, resulting in hirsutism, acnepatmal menstruation, and infertility. High dosedrafulin fail to provide adequate glycemic
control in these patients and there is no satisfadteatment currently available.

Type B syndrome is characterized by the presenegtofntibodies to the insulin receptor that irgierfwith proper receptor functionir
These patients have hyperinsulinism, erratic glyicarantrol, hyperandrogenism, and other autoimndliserders. High doses of insulin fail
to provide adequate glycemic control in these p&tiand there is no satisfactory treatment curreavilable.

6
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Rabson-Mendenhall syndrome and Leprechaunism swechhracterized by high circulating concentratimnigisulin with alternating
episodes of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia. They hhve hyperandrogenism and growth failure. Higged of insulin fail to provide
adequate glycemic control in these patients ane tiseno satisfactory treatment currently available

Diabetes

Patients with type 1 diabetes are characterizethdiy inability to produce insulin. In these patgrinsulin deficiency leads to glucose
intolerance in childhood. In type 1 diabetes, daegulation of GH receptors in the liver resultseéduced circulating IGF-I levels, which can
lead to GH hypersecretion. This in turn causesedsed insulin sensitivity and worsening of metabadintrol. Treatment of type 1 diabetes
with rhIGF-I/rhiIGFBP-3 can reduce GH levels and im insulin sensitivity and glycemic control, whillecreasing insulin dose
requirements.

Type 2 diabetes is characterized by insulin restgaln addition to low circulating levels of IGFthese patients have an increased
number of insulin/IGF-1 hybrid receptors. Increasegression of these hybrid receptors positivelyatates with a decrease in both insulin
binding affinity and insulin sensitivity. Treatmeuwittype 2 diabetics requiring insulin therapy WithGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 also leads to improved
glycemic control while decreasing insulin dose isgment.

Cancer

The World Health Organization estimates that by®@2e number of annual worldwide cancer relateatiteis expected to reach 10
million. To date, the FDA has approved over 110abogy drugs for more than 25 indications. Up to4#hivds of these drugs are cytotoxic
agents, many of which exhibit significant systemoixicity and decrease the quality of life of theipat.

Identification of the signaling pathways that regaltumor growth has led to novel strategies ferttbatment of cancer. As a result, 1
agents that target growth factors and their regs@ice emerging as promising new treatments. Boethd, both IGFBP-3 and INSM-18 have
emerged as promising novel treatments for a vadgetancer types. Both treatments interact withl@ieé system to reduce tumor growth.

Business Strategy

Our focus is on the development and commerciatinadif products for the treatment of metabolic andoerine diseases with unmet
medical needs. Our initial goal is to obtain therapal of rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 for the treatment of GHand establish proof-of-concept
clinical data with rhIGFBP-3 in the treatment oéast or other cancers. Our long-term strategy ¢apitalize on many other potential
endocrine and metabolic indications with rhIGFIBRBP-3 and additional cancer indications with rREP-3. Key elements of our strategy
for achieving these goals include:

Seek FDA and EMEA approval of rhIGF-I/rhiIGFBP-3 refacement treatment for GHIS. We submitted a New Drug Application
(NDA) on January 3, 2005 for the use of rhIGF-IBRBP-3 in the treatment of GHIS, which was accepteddaiew by the FDA on March
2005. We are continuing our Phase Il clinicalltimmapatients with GHIS in order to obtain longrtedata and plan to submit a Marketing
Authorization Application (MAA) to the EMEA for tkiindication. Children with this disorder have gngicant unmet medical need because
no effective treatment is currently available oa tharket. The proprietary information we have lgsshfrom Pharmacia demonstrates that
replacement therapy with rhiGF-I given twice dailijl significantly improve height velocity in theseverely growth disturbed patients. Data
from our clinical studies demonstrates that weaglmieve similar circulating concentrations of IG&Ad efficacy results following
administration of rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 as was achieuethe Pharmacia studies following administratidmhIGF-I. Furthermore, these blood
levels and efficacy were achieved with one injettié rhiIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 per day as opposed to the imjections needed with rhIGF-I
alone. In addition to having the advantage of amaky dosing, our animal and clinical data suglgsst severe side effects with rhiIGF-
I/rhIGFBP-3 when compared with rhIGF-I.
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Our strategy is to maintain a dual manufacturingree for our products. We currently manufacturé&idl/rhIGFBP-3 at our
manufacturing facility, Insmed Therapeutic Prot€ifi$>), in Boulder, Colorado and plan to continug manufacturing program with Avecia
Limited, a third party contract manufacturer in theited Kingdom. Based on discussions with the FIdA,are conducting several studies,
including analytical, pre-clinical and clinical tompare the drug substance previously manufactatrégecia to the new drug substance
produced at ITP. The results of this comparisohlyétome part of our submissions to the reguladoiorities.

Expand the GHIS indication to other growth disorderelated to IGF-I deficiency. A number of growth disorders related to IGF-I
deficiency other than GHIS represent conditionsiwignificant unmet medical needs. While seekingrayal in GHIS, we plan to investige
these other indications and further develop thbaewill provide the best market opportunity fobdhexpansion. We will then seek this label
expansion through supplemental regulatory submmissilb is likely that we will conduct one or moriénical studies to support label
expansion.

Develop rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 in additional indications  We intend to initiate clinical studies of rhi&#hIGFBP-3 in additional
indications. Based on the data from these studiesyill select the most promising indications farther development and commercializat
The indications we are considering are extremeimsesistance, diabetes, myotonic dystrophy, Hégatiated adipose redistribution
syndrome, recovery from severe burn injury, recg¥ierm osteoporotic hip fracture and retinopathyogmaturity.

Establish a sales and marketing organization forettunited States. We intend to develop a sales and marketingefaydarget the
approximately 400 active U.S.-based pediatric eridology centers where children with growth disasdare evaluated and treated. These
physicians are primarily hospital-based and comaggd in major metropolitan areas and we belieaettiey will be best served by a focused
marketing organization and specialized sales fdrcaddition, we intend to conduct continuing medlieducation programs, medical
symposia, and regional speaker programs aimedatdilishing awareness of rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 in thedinal community. We also intend to
conduct post-marketing studies and establish apatégistry to provide further data on the saéatyg efficacy of rhIGF-I/rhiIGFBP-3.

Establish a sales and marketing organization or alst a Marketing Partner for Europe. We are exploring several opportunities in
Europe to partner with an established sales an#lating organization. We expect to conduct contiguimedical education programs, medical
symposia, and regional speaker programs aimedatilishiing awareness of rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 in thedpean physician community. We
also intend to conduct post-marketing studies atabdéish a patient registry to provide further danahe safety and efficacy of rhiIGF-
I/rhIGFBP-3.

Initiate clinical studies with rhIGFBP-3 We are currently conducting a Phase | clingtatly to establish the pharmacokinetic profile
of rhIGFBP-3 and plan to proceed to Phase Il dih&tudies in one or more of the following canggess: breast, colorectal, lung and/or
prostate.

Broaden endocrinology and oncology portfolio basedl our expertise. Our longer-term strategy for growth is to pwrshe
development and commercialization of additionaldoicis for the treatment of significant unmet meldieseds that complement our activities
within the fields of metabolic and endocrine disesaand oncology.

Retain commercial rights to market products in seed markets. Our goal is to retain relevant marketing rigiat®ur products and
commercialize them in selected niche markets.

Establish corporate partnerships in certain markets We plan to establish corporate partnershigtei@lop, market and
commercialize our products in markets outside afamue focus.
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Research and Development

We have devoted substantially all of our resousiese we began our operations to the researcherelapment of pharmaceutical
product candidates for metabolic and endocrineadis® Our focus is principally in developing anthowercializing late-stage products. We
conduct very little of our own preclinical laboragaesearch. However, we actively maintain ongalisgussions with academic research
institutions and other companies regarding rhiIGRKBFBP-3, rhIGFBP3 and other projects in endocrinology and oncoldyg.are current|
conducting a Phase Il clinical study with our lgadduct, rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3, and plan to investigather potential indications with this
product. We are also conducting pre-clinical stadigh our other lead compound, rhIGFBP-3 and plarconducting clinical studies with
this product in the future. Our research and degraknt expenses were approximately $23.3 millio2084, $7.1 million in 2003, and $18.1
million in 2002.

Strategic Relationships
Fujisawa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

In January 2004, Insmed was granted a non-exclliseese to patent rights pertaining to the uskét-1 therapy for the treatment of
extreme or severe insulin resistant diabetes frajis&wa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Under the termth@fagreement, Insmed obtained
worldwide rights in territories (excluding Japam)ave a valid patent claim exists, including thet&ahiStates and Europe. We have made a
commitment to use reasonable commercial effortaake rhiGF-l/rhIGFBP-3 available on a hamed patiesis to patients with extreme
insulin resistance.

Tzamal Pharmaceutical

In October 2004, we entered into a letter of infoimotion agreement with Tzamal Pharma, a subgidiaFox Pharma headquartered
in Jerusalem Israel. The agreement calls for Tzaonlaé our exclusive distributor in Israel and Balgéan autonomous territories, West Bank
and Gaza. The agreement has a term of one yeamathe anniversary of the agreement it may be redesa a joint agreement between
Insmed and Tzamal for another twelve months.

Pharmacia Inc.

Pharmacia, Inc. was granted marketing approvatdveral European and Scandinavian countries forfHI@ the treatment of GHIS. |
August 2002, we entered into an agreement withrRaeaia that grants us an exclusive worldwide licengeharmacia’s portfolio of
regulatory filings and proprietary information perting to rhiGF-I for the treatment of GHIS. We kanade a commitment to make rhIGF-
I/rhIGFBP-3 available on a named patient basistSSsubjects that were previously being treatedh Wil GF-1 supplied by Pharmacia.

Avecia Limited

In July 2002, we entered into an agreement withcleveimited, Europe’s largest privately held spégiahemical company, for the
process development and manufacture of rhiIGF-I/EB-3. In consideration for the work performed urtdés agreement, we have paid
process development and manufacturing costs assdeidth the production of rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3.

Patents and Proprietary Rights
Insmed Patent Portfoli

Proprietary protection is important to our businessl our policy is to protect our technology Hing§j patent applications for technolc
that we consider important. We intend to file aidaial patent applications, when appropriate, netato improvements in our technology and
other specific products that we develop. As witli panding patent application, there can be no asserthat any of these applications will
issue in the United States or a foreign countner&talso can be no assurance that a subsequerdro®eign patent will later be held valid
and enforceable.



Table of Contents

We hold 28 United States patents relating to thepmusition, production, antibodies and methods effos rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 and
rhIGFBP-3, including:

Two issued patents for rhIGFBP-3 composition-ofterat

15 therapeutic use patents for rhiIGF-I/rhiIGFBP&E I, rhiIGFBP-3 or rhiIGFBP-3 fragments for the treant of various disease
conditions; and

11 patents regarding novel expression, productianalysis methods, some of which may be usechntanufacture of rhiIGF-
I/rhIGFBP-3 and pharmaceutical compositions of fiHBGhIGFBP-3.

As part of the ongoing development of rhiIGF-I/rhEBH=3 and rhIGFBP-3, we have filed or intend to filgent applications related to
new production methods, improved formulations, megdical uses and new dosing regimens in the Utatks and in many of the major
international pharmaceutical markets. The varisgaed patents related to rhIGF-I/rhiIGFBP-3 and RBEB-3 compositions, methods of
production and methods of treatment expire at waritmes during the years 2010 through 2019.

In addition, foreign counterparts to the abovefeed U.S. patents have issued or are pending iissbie major pharmaceutical
markets, such as Europe, Canada and Japan.

With respect to Europe, Insmed recently decideditbdraw one of its patents, EP 451,194 (“the 18tept”), which is directed to
compositions and methods of using IGFBP-3. Thismiaéxpires in 2009. We do not believe that a cditgpeés developing IGFBP-3 or will
engage in activities encompassed by this pateot fwi2009. As such, the costs of maintaining plaitent outweigh its estimated value.
Therefore, Insmed has withdrawn its approval oftéxt of the ‘194 patent. As a result of this active expect the European Patent Office
will soon revoke the ‘194 patent.

As part of our development and manufacturing agesgiwith Avecia Limited, we are currently negotigfito obtain certain non-
exclusive rights to Avecia’s proprietary manufastgrtechnology. In January 2004, Insmed was graatedn-exclusive license to patent
rights pertaining to the use of IGF-I therapy foe treatment of extreme or severe insulin resistattetes from Fujisawa Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd.

Reflecting our commitment to safeguarding proprietaformation, we require our employees and cdiasi$ to sign confidentiality
agreements. These agreements prohibit unauthatigelbsure of Insmed’s proprietary information. pis our efforts to protect our
proprietary information, unauthorized parties mtgrapt to obtain and use our proprietary informatigolicing unauthorized use of our
proprietary information is difficult, and the stepe have taken might not prevent misappropriagpanticularly in foreign countries where the
laws may not protect our proprietary rights asyfal$ do the laws of the United States.

We note that there has been increasing litigatidiné biopharmaceutical industry with respect ®rttanufacture and sale of new
therapeutic products. The validity and breadthlaihes in biotechnology patents may involve comgdhstual and legal issues, for which no
consistent policy exists. In particular, the patemotection available for protein-based produatshsas rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 and rhIGFBP-3, is
highly uncertain and involves issues relating ®ghope of protection of claims to gene sequenueshee production of their corresponding
proteins.

In some cases, litigation or other proceedings begecessary to enforce our patents or protedtrmw-how or other intellectual
property rights. Any potential litigation could tdsin a substantial cost to us and a diversioawfresources. We cannot be sure that any of
our patents will ultimately be held valid. An adseroutcome in any litigation or proceeding couldjsct us to significant liability.

Third-Party Patents

Third parties, including Genentech Inc. and Chi@worporation hold United States and/or foreign pat@ossibly directed to the
composition, production and/or use of rhIGF-I, reEP-3, rhIGF-I/rhiIGFBP-3 and/or recombinant proseiim general. After examining these
patents, we do not believe they present an obstadar plans to commercialize rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3lahIGFBP-3.
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We can provide no assurance, however, that orfeesktthird parties will not assert a contrary paisiin the future, for instance in the
context of an infringement action. Likewise, we manpredict with certainty the outcome of such ecpeding. We note, however, that an
adverse ruling could impact our ability to makeg 0s sell our products. In any event, in some cdsiggtion or other proceedings may be
necessary to defend Insmed against claims of patfimgement.

In this regard, we note that on December 20, 2084ica, Inc. and Genentech Inc. filed a complagginst Avecia Limited and
Insmed, Inc. in the United Kingdom at the High GafrJustice, Chancery Division, Patents Courtgitlg infringement of EP patent No.
571,417 (“the 417 patent”). The ‘417 patent hagwdadirected to particular uses of a combinatiolGFBP-3 and IGF-I. In the complaint,
Tercica, Inc. asked the court for an injunctiomdstrain allegedly infringing activity, for a decdion that the ‘417 patent is valid and
infringed, for an order requiring the delivery @struction of allegedly infringing articles and exédls and for an inquiry into possible
economic damages.

On February 11, 2005, Avecia and Insmed filed eebsé and Counterclaim to Tercica Inc.’s suit. drdefense, Avecia and Insmed
asserted, among other things, that the ‘417 paenvalid and that the Claimant failed to propesgister its license. In its Counterclaim,
Avecia and Insmed also asked the court to revokedth7 patent.

Insmed cannot predict with certainty the outcoméhif proceeding. We note, however, that an adweitsey could impact our ability t
make, use or sell our products and would have anmahtdverse effect on our business, financiatld@n and results of operations.

In addition, Tercica, Inc. filed, on December 2802, a complaint against Insmed in the United StBistrict Court for the Northern
District of California alleging infringement of U.patent Nos. 5,187,151 and 6,331,414. These padeatdirected to certain methods of ut
IGF-I/IGFBP-3 and methods of producing human IGFespectively. On February 16, 2005, Tercica, &md Genentech, Inc. filed an
Amended Complaint, adding allegations of infringainaf U.S. patent No. 5,258,287 (“the ‘287 patenthe claims of the ‘287 patent are
directed to DNA encoding BP53 (i.e. IGFBP-3) ancorabinant constructs, transformed host cells antthads for using same.

On February 18, 2005, Insmed filed a motion to dsrthe Amended Complaint. In the motion, Insmesitded that all alleged
activities fall within the statutory safe-harboppided by 35 U.S.C. 8 271(e)(1), commonly callegl ¢hnical trial exemption. This exemption
prevents patent infringement actions from beingdfihgainst activities reasonably related to ohtgifiDA approval of a product, such as
when the product is still being tested in clinité@ls. Insmed further asserted, among other thithgd Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim
the requested relief, have not sued the propey,daate failed to name all the proper plaintiffgldrave failed to establish the existence of a
sufficiently real and substantial controversy begwéhe parties. Insmed requested immediate dishasSummary Judgment against the
plaintiff's allegation on these grounds.

Insmed cannot predict with certainty the outcom#i proceeding. We note, however, that an adweilseg could impact our ability t
make, use or sell our products and would have anmahtdverse effect on our business, financiatlt@n and results of operations.

In addition, Novartis AG and Chiron Corporation bBaights to United States and foreign patentsirgdb the use of IGF-1 for the
treatment of type 1 diabetes, and Novartis owngddrfstates and foreign patents relating to thenreat of osteoporosis with IGF-1.
Genentech, Inc. owns U.S. and foreign patents ideo using IGF-1 to increase the growth rateesfain patients with non-GH-deficient
short stature and patients having partial growttmume insensitivity syndrome. We do not expect thatwill infringe these patents. We can
give no assurances, however, that such patentsecamoided, invalidated or licensed. Thus, themateould potentially have an adverse
effect on our ability to make, use or sell rhIGFRIGFBP-3 for certain indications.

Manufacturing

We currently rely on our wholly owned subsidianysined Therapeutic Proteins, as well as contractifaaturers to produce rhiGF-
I/rhiIGFBP-3 and rhIGFBP-3. If we are unable to bEsh our own capacity and
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maintain relationships with third parties for maatiiring sufficient quantities of our product catates and their components which meet
planned time and cost parameters, the developmertiraing of our clinical trials and/or product corarcialization may be adversely
affected.

Our product candidates must be manufactured icikityeby processes that comply with current gooanufacturing practices (cGMP)
and other similar regulations. Prior to receivingrketing approval from the FDA, it is likely thawtet FDA will inspect our manufacturing
facilities to ensure that our contract manufactigsrd/or Insmed Therapeutic Proteins are in comgdiavith cGMP. If we are not in
compliance with cGMP, the FDA may make us halt nfacturing until we can bring the facilities intorapliance. This could take a
substantial period of time and could adverselyctffiee development and timing of our clinical tsi@nd/or product commercialization.

rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 is a complex of two proteins, @H-l and its binding protein rhIGFBP-3, and is miactured using recombinant
DNA technology. The manufacturing process is coogpéd and involves expression of the two protejnbdzterial fermentation followed by
purification and combination of the two proteinsurihg the manufacturing process, rhiGF-I and rhi@FBare produced separately and then
combined to make rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3. The rhIGFBPa® either be utilized to make rhiIGF-1/rhIGFBP-Xept separate as its own distinct
product.

To date, we have supplied all of our pre-cliniaadl &linical study requirements with rhIGF-I/rhIGFBRreviously produced by our
subsidiary, Celtrix Pharmaceuticals Inc. or Avddiaited, a contract manufacturer in Billingham, HEaog.

In July 2002, we entered into an agreement withcleveimited, Europe’s largest privately held spégiahemical company, for the
process development and manufacture of rhiIGF-I/RBB-3. In consideration for the work performed urttliés agreement, we have paid
process development and manufacturing costs assdeidth the production of rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3.

We are currently manufacturing rhiGF-I/rhIGFBP-3regmed Therapeutic Proteins in Boulder, Color&igtrix Pharmaceuticals Inc.
no longer produces rhiGF-1/rhIGFBP-3. We cannotrgngee that Insmed Therapeutic Proteins and Aweitlide able to produce the rhIGF-
I/rhiIGFBP-3 or rhIGFBP-3 necessary for future plieical and clinical trials or commercialization.

Marketing and Sales

We currently have no sales, marketing or distrinuttapability. However, we intend to develop asaled marketing force to target the
approximately 400 active U.S.-based pediatric endologists who treat children with growth disturice. Because these pediatric
endocrinologists are primarily hospital-based amacentrated in major metropolitan areas, we belieata focused marketing organization
and specialized sales force can effectively sdreet In addition, we intend to conduct continuingdical education programs, medical
symposia, and regional speaker programs aimedadilishing awareness of rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 in thggibian community. We also intend
to conduct post-marketing studies and establisétiemt registry to provide further data on the sa#nd efficacy of rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3.

We are exploring several opportunities for salesmarketing in Europe including the establishmdrduy own sales and marketing
organization, acquisition of an existing sales aratketing organization and partnering with an disthed sales and marketing organization.

Our goal is to retain marketing, sales and distiitsurights to our product candidates for certaghe markets and find commercial
partners to develop and market our products in etarutside of our core focus.

Competition

We are engaged in an industry that is intenselypatitive and characterized by rapid technologicabpess. In each of our potential
product areas, we face significant competition flange pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other corgs, as well as universities and
research institutions. Most of these companies
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and institutions have substantially greater capé@aburces, research and development staffs ti@giind experience in conducting clinical
trials and obtaining regulatory approvals. In aiddit many of these companies have greater experiand expertise in manufacturing and
marketing pharmaceutical products.

Since all of our products are under developmentcav@ot predict the relative competitive positidroor products if they are approved
for use. However, we expect that the following dastwill determine our ability to compete effective

» safety and efficacy;
» product price;
» ease of administration; and

» marketing and sales capability.

Currently, no drug in the United States and Eulis@pproved and marketed as replacement theragiddreatment of GHIS. We are
aware of only one other company, Tercica, Inct ihaursuing development of a product for thiséation. On February 28, 2005 Tercica
announced that it had submitted a new drug apmit&dNDA) for the use of rhIGF-I in the long termeatment of growth failure in children
with a severe form of primary IGF deficiency. Wdidee this indication would include patients withH@. We believe Tercica may also be
planning to develop rhIGF-I for some of the sandidations that we plan to pursue with rhiIGF-1/rh BH=3.

GH may also be a competitive product for the treathof some patients with growth disorders assediatith IGF-I deficiency. The
major suppliers of commercially available GH aren&wstech, Eli Lilly, Novo Nordisk, Pfizer and Serono

In addition, we believe that Genentech, Merck, Nbl\awdisk and Pfizer have previously conducted neteand development of orally
available small molecules that cause the relea&Hptknown as GH secretagogues. We are not awaryofontinued clinical development
of these molecules by these companies. We belateRejuvenon Corporation may have licensed cerigims to Novo Nordisk’s GH
secretagogues, which are in pre-clinical develogm#afie are also aware that Theratechnologies isldewvg various peptides that stimulate
the release of hormones that could be used irr¢la¢gnent of some of the indications we plan to peissith rhiGF-1/rhiIGFBP-3.

Many companies are seeking to develop productdtardpies for the treatment of diabetes. Our congpstinclude multinational
pharmaceutical companies, specialized biotechndiiogys, and universities and other research iniitis. Our largest competitors include
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Eli Lilly, GlaxoSmKline, Merck, Novartis, Novo Nordisk, Takeda Chealitndustries and Amylin
Pharmaceuticals. Various products are currentlylaa to treat type 2 diabetes, such as insulth@mal hypoglycemic drugs.

In addition, several companies are developing waritew approaches to improve the treatments ofltyged type 2 diabetes. Amylin
Pharmaceuticals has conducted and is continuirgriduct clinical trials for two products, SymlindaBxenatide, for the treatment of type 2
diabetes. Tercica has indicated that it plans tsymithe development of rhiIGF-I in the treatmergenfere forms of diabetes.

Many companies are pursuing the development ofymtsdor the treatment of cancer. Our competitoctuide multinational
pharmaceutical companies, specialized biotechndiiogygs, and universities and other research insitis. Although we are unaware of any
companies developing rhIGFBP-3 for cancer, we a&re of companies who are developing productsateintended to target the same
pathway that we are targeting with rhiIGFBP-3.

It is possible that there are other companies piitiducts currently in development or that existtmmarket that may compete directly
with rhIGF-1/rhiIGFBP-3 or rhIGFBP-3.
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Government Regulation

Government authorities in the United States andratbuntries extensively regulate the researcheldpment, testing, manufacture,
promotion, marketing and distribution of drug protu Drugs are subject to rigorous regulation lgyRBA and similar regulatory bodies in
other countries. The steps ordinarily required fonew drug may be marketed in the United Statesimilar to steps required in most
other countries and include:

» Pre-clinical laboratory tests, pofinical studies in animals and formulation studd@sl the submission of an Investigational New L
Application (IND);

« Adequate and well-controlled clinical trials toasish the safety and efficacy of the drug for emclication;
» The submission of a NDA ; and

» Regulatory review and approval of the NDA beforg aammercial sale or shipment of the drug.

Pre-clinical tests include laboratory evaluatiorpadduct chemistry and stability, as well as anistatlies to evaluate toxicity. The
results of pre-clinical testing are submitted te HDA as part of an IND. The FDA requires a 30-dajting period after the filing of each
IND before beginning clinical tests in humans. Ayaime during this 30-day period or at any timer#after, the FDA may halt proposed or
ongoing clinical trials until the FDA authorizesats under specified terms. The IND process mayivecextremely costly and substantially
delay development of our products. Moreover, pesitesults of pre-clinical tests will not necedyaridicate positive results in clinical trials.

Clinical trials to support NDAs are typically corrded in three sequential phases, but the phaseoweaiap. During Phase |, the initial
introduction of the drug into healthy human sulgemt patients, the drug is tested to assess phakinatics and safety.

Phase Il usually involves studies in a limited @atipopulation to:
» assess the efficacy of the drug in specific tadjetdications;

» assess dosage tolerance and optimal dosage; and

« identify possible adverse effects and safety risks.

If a compound is found to be potentially effectared to have an acceptable safety profile in Phasealuations, Phase lll trials, also
called pivotal studies, are undertaken to furtreandnstrate clinical efficacy and to further testdafety within an expanded patient
population at geographically dispersed clinicatigtaites.

After completion of the required clinical testirgNDA is submitted. The FDA may request additian&drmation before accepting a
NDA for filing, in which case the application must resubmitted with the additional information. THegformance goals and procedure
the FDA Center for Drug Evaluation and ResearchERPand the Center for Biologics Evaluation andd?esh (CBER), as agreed to under
the reauthorization of the prescription drug usergrogram in the “Food and Drug Administration Modzation Act of 1997,” indicate the
FDA is striving to review and act on 90% of startiDA submissions filed during years 2003 throu@B2within 10 months of receipt and
priority NDA submissions within 6 months of subniiss The review process is often significantly exted by FDA requests for additional
information or clarification. The FDA may refer thNbDA to an appropriate advisory committee for reyievaluation and recommendation as
to whether the application should be approvedtiFDA is not bound by the recommendation of ansady committee.

If FDA evaluations of the NDA and related manufaictg facilities are favorable, the FDA may issuther an approval letter or an
approvable letter. An approvable letter will usyabntain a number of conditions that must be ma&trder to secure final approval of the
NDA and authorization of commercial marketing of tirug. The FDA may refuse to approve the NDA suésa not approvable lett:
outlining the deficiencies in the submission or th@nufacturing site(s) and often requiring addiiaesting or information.
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The manufacturers of approved products and thefrufiaaturing facilities will be subject to continualview and periodic inspections.
Because we intend to contract with third partiesnianufacturing of these products, our controlahpliance with FDA requirements may
incomplete. In addition, identification of certaitle effects or the occurrence of manufacturingleros after any of our drugs are on the
market could cause subsequent withdrawal of approefarmulation of the drug, additional peéinical testing or clinical trials and change
labeling of the product.

The FDA's policies may change and additional governmentla¢igns may be enacted which could prevent ornydedgulatory approv:
of our products. We cannot predict the likelihoodture or extent of adverse governmental regulatioich might arise from future legislati
or administrative action, either in the United 8tabr abroad.

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drugs intended to treat adaease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects feivan 200,000 individuals in the United States @rptrug designation must be requested
before submitting a NDA. After the FDA grants orphdrug designation, the identity of the therapeagient and its potential orphan use are
disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan drug desigmatioes not convey any advantage in or shorteduh&tion of the regulatory review and
approval process. If a product that has orphan designation subsequently receives the first FDgrawal for the disease for which it has
such designation, the product is entitled to orptrauct exclusivity, which means that the FDA nmay approve any other applications to
market the same drug for the same disease, excepty limited circumstances, for seven years. Bidusivity, however, also could block
the approval of our products for seven years ib@apetitor is granted orphan designation and resdii2A approval of the same drug for the
same indication or disease before we do. We haetved orphan designation for the treatment of ieelaarn injury, growth disturbances due
to GHIS, and extreme insulin resistance. We altmnih to file for orphan drug designation for othetications which meet the criteria for
orphan exclusivity. Obtaining FDA approval to maraeroduct with orphan drug exclusivity may natyde us with a material commercial
advantage.

The FDA Modernization Act of 1997 included a pedé@aéxclusivity provision that was extended by Best Pharmaceuticals for
Children Act of 2003. Pediatric exclusivity is dgséd to provide an incentive to manufacturers éadeicting research about the safety of
their products in children. Pediatric exclusivitygranted, provides an additional six months ofkeaexclusivity in the United States for new
or currently marketed drugs, if certain pediattiocdées requested by FDA are completed by the agmpliaVe believe our current plans to st
rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 in children may qualify rhiIGF-WMIGFBP-3 for the additional six months of pediaiclusivity, although there can be no
assurances that FDA will grant such additional esigity. The current pediatric exclusivity provisi@s scheduled to end on October 1, 2007
and there can be no assurances that it will behieened.

Outside the United States, our ability to marketnoducts will also depend on receiving marketghorizations from the appropriate
regulatory authorities. The requirements govertirggconduct of clinical trials and marketing authation vary widely from country to
country. The foreign regulatory approval procesduides risks similar to those associated with FpAraval as described above.

Employees

As of December 31, 2004, we had 55 full-time empés; Of these employees, 14 were engaged in resmadadevelopment, 29 were
engaged in manufacturing and 12 were engaged iergemanagement, finance and administration. Ndm@ioemployees are covered by
collective bargaining agreement. We consider mtetiwith our employees to be good.
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Risk Factors Related to Our Business

You should consider carefully the following rislcfars, together with all of the other informatiatiuded in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Each of these risk factors could advgrafect our business, operating results and fingrcondition, as well as adversely affect
the value of an investment in our common stock.

Since we have a limited operating history, a histgrof operating losses and an expectation that we Nvijenerate operating losses for th
foreseeable future, we may not achieve profitabilit for some time, if at all.

We are focused on product development and curréathg no commercial sales. We have incurred lessels year of operation and we
expect to continue incurring operating losseslierforeseeable future. The process of developingmducts requires significant pre-clinical
testing and clinical trials as well as regulatoppevals for commercialization and marketing befeeecan begin to generate any revenue
from product sales. In addition, commercializatidrour drug candidates will require us to estabéisales and marketing organization and
contractual relationships to enable product martufangy and other related activities. We expect thate activities, together with our general
and administrative expenses, will result in sultsahoperating losses for the foreseeable futueofDecember 31, 2004, our accumulated
deficit was $213.7 million. For the year ended Deber 31, 2004, our consolidated net loss was $2ildn.

We currently have two lead product candidates, FallehIGFBP-3 (also known as SomatoKihgand rhIGFBP-3. rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3
is currently in development for a number of metabahd endocrine indications. The most advanceitation in development is the treatm
of severe growth disturbance due to growth hormosensitivity syndrome (GHIS). Our second compouhtd3FBP-3, is currently in pre-
clinical development for a variety of cancers imithg breast, lung, colon and prostate.

All of our products are currently in the research and development stage and if we are unable to comnaalize them it will materially
adversely affect our business, financial conditioand results of operations.

All of our potential products are in the researnt development stage. Our long-term viability angingh depend on the successful
commercialization of products which lead to reveaud profits. In order to commercialize any of puvducts they must first be successfully
developed. Pharmaceutical product development expansive, high risk, lengthy, complicated, reseuntensive process. In order to
succeed, among other things, we must be able to:

« identify potential drug product candidates;

» design and conduct appropriate laboratory, préeairand other research;
» submit for and receive regulatory approval to penfalinical studies;

» design and conduct appropriate clinical studies;

» select and recruit clinical investigators;

 select and recruit subjects for our studies;

» collect, analyze and correctly interpret the davanfour studies;

» submit for and receive regulatory approvals forkating; and

» manufacture the drug product candidates accordirgitrent good manufacturing practices (cGMP).

The development program with respect to any giveduyct will take many years and thus delay ouriigttib generate profit. In
addition, potential products that appear promisingarly stages of development may fail for a nunolbeeasons, including the possibility t
the products may require significant additionatitesor turn out to be:

* unsafe;

» not effective;
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« too difficult or expensive to manufacture;
* too difficult to administer; or

* unstable.

In order to conduct the development programs fompmtential products we must, among other thingsaltile to successfully:
* raise sufficient money to pay for the development;

 attract and retain appropriate personnel; and

» develop relationships with other companies to perfearious development activities that we are uvaablperform.

Even if we are successful in developing our progiutiere are numerous developments that could préve successful
commercialization of the products such as:

* the regulatory approval of our products are delayede are required to conduct further researchdmvelopment with our products
prior to receiving regulatory approvi

« we are unable to build a sales and marketing gtogpiccessfully launch and sell our products;

* we are unable to raise the additional funds negaledccessfully develop and commercialize our pctslar acquire additional
products for growth

» an event such as a law suit or other litigatiorindraur cash;

* we are unable to manufacture the quantity of prbdaeded in accordance with current good manufaciyractices to meet market
demand or at al

» our product is determined to be ineffective or dasallowing approval and is removed from the marewe are required to perfol
additional research and development to further @the safety and effectiveness of the product beak-entry into the marke

» competition from other products or technologiesspris or reduces market acceptance of our products;

» we do not have and cannot obtain the intellectusperty rights needed to manufacture or markepooducts without infringing on
another compar’s patents; o

» we are unable to obtain reimbursement for our prtedar such reimbursement may be less than is s&ge produce a reasonable
profit.

Our growth strategy includes the commercializabbmore than one product. We may not be able totifyeand acquire
complementary products, businesses or technolagiésf acquired or licensed, they might not improue business, financial condition or
results of operations.

The failure to successfully acquire, develop andmercialize products will adversely affect our Imesis, financial condition and rest
of operations.

If our products fail in pre-clinical or clinical tr ials or if we cannot enroll enough patients to compte our clinical trials, such failure
may adversely affect our business, financial cond@n and results of operations.

In order to sell our products, we must receive tatguy approval. Before obtaining regulatory apmievfor the commercial sale of any
of our products under development, we must dematesthrough prelinical studies and clinical trials that the pratlis safe and effective f
use in each target indication. In addition, theultssfrom preelinical testing and early clinical trials may rim# predictive of results obtainec
later clinical trials. There can be no assuraneé dir clinical trials will demonstrate sufficiesdfety and effectiveness to obtain regulatory
approvals. A number of companies in the biotechgyknd pharmaceutical industries have suffered
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significant setbacks in late stage clinical tried&n after promising results in early stage devalamt. If our products fail in pre-clinical or
clinical trials, it will have an adverse effect our business, financial condition and results afragions.

We are currently conducting a Phase 11l clinicalltof rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 in patients with GHIS ahdve included some data from this
trial as pivotal information in a NDA submissionttee FDA which was filed on January 3, 2005. We alsn to include the data from the
trial in a MAA to the EMEA. We must receive apprbeathese applications before we can market rhI@HGFBP-3 in the respective
territories. We are also planning clinical trialgtwhIGFBP-3.

The completion rate of these and other clinicaldris dependent on, among other factors, themiai@ollment rate. Patient enrollment
is a function of many factors, including:

* Investigator identification and recruitment;
 regulatory approvals to initiate study sites;

» patient population size;

« the nature of the protocol to be used in the trial;
» patient proximity to clinical sites;

« eligibility criteria for the study; and

» competition from other companies’ clinical triaty the same patient population.

We believe our planned procedures for enrollingepés are appropriate; however, delays in patiartlenent would increase costs and
delay ultimate commercialization and sales, if afyqur products. Such delays could materially askly affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We may be required to conduct broad, long-term cliical trials to address concerns that the long-ternuse of rhiIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 in
broader chronic indications might increase the riskof diabetic retinopathy. This may materially advesely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

In previously published clinical trials of rhIGFdpncerns were raised that long-term use of rhi@fght lead to an increased incidence
and/or severity of retinopathy, a disease of newadlvessel growth in the eye which results in lfsgsion. Because our product contains
rhiGF-I, the FDA may require us to conduct broathg-term clinical trials to address these conceritg to receiving FDA approval for
broad chronic indications such as diabetes. Thigseal trials would be expensive and could delay commercialization of rhIGF-
I/rhIGFBP-3 for these broader chronic indicatioddverse results in these trials could prevent ammercialization of rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3
for broad chronic indications or could jeopardizésting development and approvals in other indaagi

We cannot be certain that we will obtain any reguleory approvals in the United States and Europe. Théailure to obtain such
approvals may materially adversely affect our busiess, financial condition and results of operations.

We are required to obtain various regulatory apaloprior to studying our drug products in humanmd then again before we market
and distribute our products. The regulatory revéawd approval process required to perform a clirgtady in both the United States and
Europe includes evaluation of pre-clinical studied clinical trials, as well as the evaluation of manufacturing process and is complex,
lengthy, expensive, resource intensive and uneer&scuring regulatory approval to market our potslalso requires the submission of
extensive pre-clinical and clinical data, manufaom information regarding the process and fagilitgientific data characterizing our product
and other supporting data to the regulatory autiiesrin order to establish its safety and effectass. This process is also complex, lengthy,
expensive, resource intensive and uncertain. We liated experience in filing and pursuing appficas necessary to gain these regulatory
approvals.
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Data submitted to the regulators is subject to imgrinterpretations that could delay, limit or peet regulatory agency approval. We
may also encounter delays or rejections based angas in regulatory agency policies during theqaein which we develop a drug and/or
the period required for review of any application fegulatory agency approval of a particular paidDelays in obtaining regulatory agency
approvals could adversely affect the marketingnyf drugs that our collaborative partners or we tgxeSuch delays could impose costly
procedures on our collaborative partnensbur activities, diminish any competitive advayga that our collaborative partners or we mayn
and adversely affect our ability to receive roydfiany of which could materially adversely affect business, financial condition and results
of operations.

We are currently conducting a Phase 111 cliniclltof rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 in patients with GHIS ahdve included data from this trial
as a pivotal piece of information in a January@2NDA submission to the FDA. We also plan toud the data in a MAA submission to
the EMEA. We must receive approval of these apptioa before we can market rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3.

As part of our normal development we continue tweéase our scale of production and refine our naantufing process. Because of
these changes we are required to perform varionpacability analyses to demonstrate that the dradyct used in our previous
development studies is essentially the same asaedrug product produced. We have had severalsisans with the FDA and other
foreign regulatory agencies regarding our PhasdiHical study and this comparability analysis dredieve we understand what is required to
satisfy the FDA and EMEA. We plan to submit thisadto the appropriate regulatory authorities as @lathe regulatory process. If we are
unable to produce comparable drug product or ningetetgulatory requirements of comparability it wilkterially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of openat

The regulatory authorities have substantial digmnet the approval process and may either refasetept our applications, or may
decide after review of our applications that ouada insufficient to allow approval of rhIGF-I//&FBP-3. If the FDA or EMEA do not acce
or approve our application, it may require thatasaduct additional clinical, pre-clinical or manctiaring studies and submit that data before
it will reconsider our application. This could maddly adversely affect our business, financial dibion and results of operations.

Even if the FDA or EMEA grants approval for a dregch approval may limit the indicated uses foraluhive may market the drug, and
this could limit the potential market for such dr&girthermore, if we obtain approval for any of puoducts, the marketing and manufacture
of such products remain subject to extensive régnlaequirements. Even if the FDA or EMEA granppeoval, such approval would be
subject to continual review, and later discoverynown problems could restrict the products fituse or cause their withdrawal from the
market. Failure to comply with regulatory requirertsecould, among other things, result in finespeuasion of regulatory approvals,
operating restrictions and criminal prosecutionadidition, many countries require regulatory ageaqgyroval of pricing and may also require
approval for the marketing in such countries of dnyg that our collaborative partners or we develop

If our Phase Il clinical trial is unsuccessfulibwe cannot produce comparable drug product, mieorrectly understood the
regulatory requirements associated with compatghmfidrug products or for various other reasonseca satisfy ongoing regulatory
requirements, we may not receive NDA and/or MAArapgls or such approvals may be substantially aelay withdrawn. Any of these
events could materially adversely affect our bussnénancial condition and results of operations.

We cannot be certain that we will obtain any reguleory approvals in foreign countries. The failure toobtain such approvals may
materially adversely affect our business, financiatondition and results of operations.

In order to market our products outside of the &bhiBtates and European Union territories, our catpgartners and we must comply
with numerous and varying regulatory requiremefitstioer countries. The approval procedures varyrajamuntries and can involve
additional product testing and administrative reveriods. The time required to obtain approvahigse other territories might differ from
that required to obtain
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FDA or EMEA approval. The regulatory approval preg@ these other territories includes at leastfathe risks associated with obtaining
FDA and EMEA approval detailed above. Approval by FDA or EMEA does not ensure approval by the leggty authorities of other
countries.

We are currently conducting or planning to condissteral clinical studies in the United States, emuhtries in the European Union and
other territories with our products. If we are uleato receive regulatory approval to conduct sualiss, it may prevent or substantially de
our development programs which could materiallyeadgly affect our business, financial condition eggllts of operations.

If another party obtains orphan drug or pediatric exclusivity for a product that is essentially the sme as rhIGF-I/rhiIGFBP-3 for the
treatment of growth disturbance due to GHIS, we maybe precluded or delayed from commercializing rhIGFI/rhIGFBP-3 in that
indication. This will materially adversely affect air business, financial condition and results of opations.

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drugs intended to treat adaease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects fewvan 200,000 individuals in the United States timpany that obtains the first marketing
approval from the FDA for a designated orphan daug rare disease receives marketing exclusiatyse of that drug for the designated
condition for a period of seven years. Similar laxgst in Europe. Pediatric exclusivity can provateadditional six months of market
exclusivity in the United States If a competitotaibs approval of the same drug for the same itidicar disease before us, we would be
blocked from obtaining approval for our product $&wven or more years, unless our product can herstmbe clinically superior. In additic
more than one product may be approved by the FDAhtsame orphan indication or disease as lotigeagroducts are different drugs. As a
result, if our product is approved and receivediarpdrug status, the FDA can still approve othagsdifor use in treating the same indication
or disease covered by our product, which couldteraanore competitive market for us.

We are aware of a drug being developed by Tertica, which we believe is a product containing etisly only rhIGF-I, that is in
development for treatment of severe primary IGFefi€iency. We believe this population includes gats with GHIS. We believe this
company has or will file for orphan designatiorttedir product and pursue pediatric exclusivity. Teégulatory agencies could determine that
this other product is the same drug as our proandtis used for the same indication. If the regulaggencies make this determination and
the other product is approved first, the approvalw rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 for GHIS could be blockeal fup to seven or more years, which
could force us to curtail or cease our operatigvis.may not be able to benefit from the orphan dnagketing exclusivity because products
that are clinically superior may be approved forke#ing regardless of whether we receive orphag designation and the first marketing
approval.

The failure to successfully obtain orphan drug reagkclusivity or pediatric drug market exclusivityll adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Manufacturing capacity necessary to supply rhIGF-IfhIGFBP-3 and rhIGFBP-3 may not be available, whichmay adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of ogrations. If we are unable to find sufficient manuécturing capacity, it could
materially adversely affect our business, financiatondition and results of operations.

Failure to successfully manufacture our productdctmaterially adversely affect our business, firiahcondition and results of
operations. We intend to manufacture products &t facility in Boulder, Colorado and enter irgtvategic alliances with other parties that
have established commercial scale manufacturinghilifies. There can be no assurance that our &EHitly will have the capacity to produ
the required products nor that we will enter intots strategic alliances on terms favorable to w atl. If we are unable to increase
production capacity at our ITP facility or establend maintain relationships with third parties fmanufacturing sufficient quantities of our
product candidates and their components that megilanned time and cost parameters, the develaopamehtiming of our pre-clinical and
clinical trials may be adversely affected.
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In addition, there can be no assurance that arrselvegulatory inspection at our ITP facility ooatr contract manufacturers’ facilities would
not impede our commercial supply capability. If @l@ose to commercialize such products solely oroaur, it would be time consuming,
resource intensive and capital intensive. If ourtact manufacturers’ facilities or our facilitiean not produce our products according to
current good manufacturing practices (cGMP) and pasGMP inspection or if our contract manufactirer our facilities become
unavailable, we may be unable to develop and corialze our products. This will materially advensealffect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

The available capacity for the manufacture of relgioiint proteins that comprise rhiGF-I/rhIGFBP-8nsited. A shutdown or
disruption at our ITP facility or in any of thedwertl party facilities due to technical, regulatanyother problems, resulting in an interruptio
supply of these materials, could delay our develapnactivities and adversely impact our busingsantial condition and results of
operations.

We have manufactured rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 at our I&Eility and at Avecia’s site at Billingham, Englart present, rhIGF-1/rhiIGFBP-
3 has never been manufactured by ITP or Aveciaiantities necessary for commercialization; we caguoarantee that they will be able to
produce the quantities of rhiIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 neces$ar commercialization or that there will not Belays in such production. If we are
unable to manufacture rhiGF-I/rhiIGFBP-3 or such ufacture is delayed it could materially adversdfgat our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Our ITP facility and the facilities used by our t@tt manufacturers, including Avecia Limited, tamufacture rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 may
undergo an inspection by the FDA and/or EMEA fomptiance with cGMP regulations, before rhIGF-I/riH&P-3 can be approved. In the
event these facilities do not receive a satisfgot@MP inspection for the manufacture of our pradue may need to fund additional
modifications to our manufacturing process, conduititional validation studies, or find alternativanufacturing facilities, any of which
would result in significant cost to us as well asgnificant delay of up to several years in oltegrapproval for rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3. In
addition, our contract manufacturers, and any dtiéve contract manufacturer we may utilize, wél ubject to ongoing periodic inspection
by the FDA and EMEA and other foreign agenciescfimpliance with cGMP regulations and similar foregjandards. We do not have
control over our contract manufacturers’ complianith these regulations and standards.

Product for our clinical trials is currently madee@ther our ITP facility or Avecia’s manufacturifigcility and then sent to an additional
third party contract manufacture for sterile fittoa and filling into vials. Should our ITP facyit Avecia’s facility or our contract sterile
filtration and filling manufacturer become unavhi®to us for any reason, including damage fromergnt, including fire, flood, earthquake
or terrorism, we may be unable to complete manufaatf rhIGF-I/rhiIGFBP-3 or validation of the maaafuring process for rhIGF-
I/rhIGFBP-3. This could delay our clinical trialacithe approval of our NDA or MAA, which would dglar otherwise adversely affect
revenues. If the damage to any of these faciliiextensive, or if they are unwilling or unableojgerate in compliance with cGMP or perfc
under our agreements, we will need to find altévedtacilities. The number of contract manufactaneith the expertise and facilities to
manufacture rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 bulk drug substaneeaa@ommercial scale in accordance with cGMP rdiguia is extremely limited, and it
would take a significant amount of time and resesno arrange for alternative manufacturers. Iheed to change to other commercial
manufacturers, we would need to transfer and vigittee processes and analytical methods necessathefproduction and testing of rhiIGF-
I/rhiIGFBP-3 to these new manufacturers. Any of éiagtors could lead to the delay or suspensiaruptlinical trials, regulatory
submissions, regulatory approvals or commerciatimatf rhiIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3, or higher costs of protioa and result in our failure to
effectively commercialize rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3.

Furthermore, if our ITP facility or our contract meacturers fail to deliver sufficient quantitiebwlk drug substance or finished
product on a timely basis and at commercially raabte prices, and we are unable to promptly finel @nmore replacement manufacturers
capable of production at a substantially equivatest, in substantially equivalent volume and dimely basis, we will likely be unable to
meet demand for rhIGF-I/rhiIGFBP-3 and we would Ipetential revenues.
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We currently have limited sales, marketing and digtbution capabilities, which may make commercializng our products difficult. If
we are unable to build sales, marketing and distribtion capabilities, it will materially adversely affect our business, financial conditior
and results of operations.

If the FDA or any other regulatory agency permiasacommence commercial sales of products, wefad competition with respect
to commercial sales, marketing and distributioneSénare areas in which we have no experience. Tketreny of our products directly, we
must develop a marketing and sales force with teehexpertise and with supporting distribution ahitity. Alternatively, we may engage a
pharmaceutical company with a large distributiostegn and a large direct sales force to assisthexeTcan be no assurance that we will
successfully establish sales and distribution citifieb or gain market acceptance for our proprigtaroducts. To the extent we enter co-
promotion or other licensing arrangements, anymaes we receive will depend on the efforts of tipiagties and there can be no assurance
that our efforts will succeed. Failure to succelbgfell, market or distribute our products oncergyed will materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of openst

If our products fail to achieve market acceptancedr any reason, such failure may materially adversglaffect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

There can be no assurance that any of our produndidates, if approved for marketing, will achiewarket acceptance. If our products
do not receive market acceptance for any reasawril] ibdversely affect our business, financial cibioth and results of operations. The degree
of market acceptance of any products we develdpdepiend on a number of factors, including:

« the establishment and demonstration in the medaaimunity of the clinical efficacy and safety ofrquroducts;
* their potential advantage over existing and futteatment methods;
« their price; and

» reimbursement policies of government and thirdyppayers, including hospitals and insurance congsmni

For example, even if we obtain regulatory appraewadell our products, physicians and healthcarersagould conclude that our
products are not safe and effective and physigantl choose not to use them to treat patients.cOmpetitors may also develop new
technologies or products which are more effectivkess costly, or that seem more cost-effective thar products.

Our commercial success will depend in part on thadty payers agreeing to reimburse patients f@icthsts of products. Government
health administration authorities, private heattbuirers and other organizations generally prowtabursement. Third-party payers
frequently challenge the pricing of new drugs. Sigant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursenstatius of newly approved healthcare
products. Therefore, third-party payers may notreyp our products for reimbursement. If third-pgsyers do not approve our products for
reimbursement, sales will suffer, as some patieiitopt for a competing product that is approved feimbursement. Even if third-party
payers make reimbursement available, these paygnmsbursement policies may adversely affect ouparate partners and our ability to sell
such products on a profitable basis. Moreovertrined toward managed healthcare in the United §ttite growth of organizations such as
health maintenance organizations and legislatiopgsals to reform healthcare and government inserprograms could significantly
influence the purchase of healthcare services emdlpts, resulting in lower prices and reducing dechfor our products which could
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

In addition, legislation and regulations affectthg pricing of pharmaceuticals may change in walyeese to us before or after the F
or other regulatory agencies approve any of oupgsed products for marketing. While we cannot pteithie likelihood of any such
legislative or regulatory proposals, if the goveeminor an agency adopts such proposals, they coatdrially adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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If physicians, patients, third-party payers or tiredical community in general do not accept andthis@roducts we develop and
commercialize, it will materially adversely affemtir business, financial condition and results adrafions.

We will need additional funds in the future to coninue our operations, but we face uncertainties witliespect to our access to capital
that could materially adversely impact our businessfinancial condition and results of operations.

We will require substantial future capital in orderexecute our business plan. Our future capé@irements will depend on many
factors, including factors associated with:

» manufacturing;

» process development;

» research and development including among othesitpne-clinical testing and clinical trials;
 obtaining regulatory approvals;

» obtaining marketing sales and distribution captédi

 launching products;

* retaining employees and consultants;

« filing and prosecuting patent applications and egifiy patent claims;

» establishing strategic alliances; and

 other activities required for product commercidiiza.

We may also need to spend more money than currexplgcted because we may change our product devefdplans, acquire
additional products or product candidates or we majudge our costs. We have no committed sourteaptal and do not know whether
additional financing will be available when needed,if available, that the terms will be favorabléiere can be no assurance that our cash
reserves together with any subsequent fundingsatisfy our capital requirements. The failure ttis§a our capital requirements will
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations. We believe that existexh reserves including the March 15, 2
financing, will sufficiently fund our activities thugh the next twelve months.

We may seek additional funding through stratediarates, private or public sales of our securitiebcensing all or a portion of our
technology. Such funding may significantly dilutesting shareholders or may limit our rights to eurrently developing technology. There
can be no assurance, however, that we can obtditicaxil funding on reasonable terms, or at allwéf cannot obtain adequate funds, we may
need to significantly curtail our product developrprograms and/or relinquish rights to our tecbga@s or product candidates. This may
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

We are dependent upon retaining and attracting keyersonnel and others, the loss of which could matiatly adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operains.

We depend highly on the principal members of oigrdific and management staff, the loss of whoseices might significantly delay
or prevent the achievement of research, developordmisiness objectives and would materially addlgraffect our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Our succepsgmgs, in large part, on our ability to attract agigin qualified management, scientific and
medical personnel, and on our ability to develog araintain important relationships with commergaitners, leading research institutions
and key distributors. We face intense competitamstich personnel and relationships. We cannotasisat we will attract and retain such
persons or maintain such relationships.

We expect that our potential expansion into areasaztivities requiring additional expertise, sashfurther clinical trials, governmen
approvals, manufacturing, sales, marketing andilligion will place
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additional requirements on our management, operatiand financial resources. We expect these desnaitidequire an increase in
management and scientific personnel and the dewednpof additional expertise by existing managenpensonnel. The failure to attract and
retain such personnel or to develop such expertisltl materially adversely affect our businessafficial condition and results of operations.

We need collaborative relationships to be successfif we are unable to form these relationships itould materially adversely impact
our business, financial condition and results of ogrations.

We currently rely and may in the future rely onuarber of significant collaborative relationships iitellectual property rights,
research funding, manufacturing, analytical sesjipee-clinical development, clinical developmemd/ar sales and marketing. Reliance on
collaborative relationships poses a number of risicduding the following:

» we cannot effectively control whether our corponaaetners will devote sufficient resources to owagpams or products;

 disputes may arise in the future with respect éoawnership of rights to technology developed witignsed to or licensed from
corporate partner:

» disagreements with corporate partners could r@sldiss of intellectual property rights, delay errhinate the research, development
or commercialization of product candidates or reisulitigation or arbitration

 contracts with our corporate partners may failrmvple sufficient protection of our intellectualoperty;
» we may have difficulty enforcing the contracts iifeoof these partners fails to perform;

» corporate partners have considerable discreti@teicting whether to pursue the development of adjtianal products and may
pursue technologies or products either on their omin collaboration with our competitors; a

» corporate partners with marketing rights may chdos#evote fewer resources to the marketing ofppaducts than they do to
products of their own developme

Given these risks, a great deal of uncertaintytexeggarding the success of our current and futolileborative efforts. Failure of these
efforts could delay, impair or prevent the develeptrand commercialization of our products and ablgraffect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our growth strategy includes acquiring complementay businesses or technologies that may not be avdila or, if available and
purchased or licensed, might not improve our busirgs, financial condition or results of operations.

As part of our business strategy, we expect toymiagquisitions and in-license new products andnt@logies. Nonetheless, we cannot
assure you that we will identify suitable acqusis or products or that we can make such acquisitio enter into such license agreement
acceptable terms. If we acquire businesses, thasindsses may require substantial capital, andaweat provide assurance that such capital
will be available in sufficient amounts or thatdircing will be available in amounts and on ternat the deem acceptable. Furthermore, the
integration of acquired businesses may result foreseen difficulties that require a disproportisnamount of management’s attention and
our other resources. Finally, we cannot provideiasge that we will achieve productive synergies efficiencies from these acquisitions.

We intend to conduct proprietary development progravith collaborators, and any conflicts with theould harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Wnd to enter into collaborative relationshipsahkhivill involve our collaborator conducting
proprietary development programs. Any conflict watlr collaborators could reduce our ability to @bfature collaboration agreements and
negatively influence
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our relationship with existing collaborators, whiobuld reduce our revenues and have an adverss effeour business, financial condition
and results of operations. Moreover, disagreemeititsour collaborators could develop over right®to intellectual property.

Certain of our collaborators could also be or bee@wmpetitors. Our collaborators could harm oudpob development efforts by:
» developing competing products;

» precluding us from entering into collaborationshatiteir competitors;
« failing to obtain timely regulatory approvals;
» terminating their agreements with us prematurely; o

« failing to devote sufficient resources to the depehent and commercialization of products.

We face uncertainties related to patents and propetary technology that may materially adversely affet our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our success will depend in part on our ability to:
 obtain patent protection for our products;

« prevent third parties from infringing on our patrand

« refrain from infringing on the patents of otherstibdomestically and internationally.

Our patent positions are highly uncertain, andfahyre patents we receive for our potential proguwgtl be subject to this uncertainty,
which may adversely affect our business, finanmigidition and results of operations. We intenddiivaly pursue patent protection for
products arising from our research and developmaetitities that have significant potential commateialue. Nevertheless, it is possible tl
in the patent application process, certain claimy be rejected or achieve such limited allowaneg ttine value of the patents would be
diminished. Further, there can be no assurancethapatents obtained will afford us adequate ptmtn. In addition, any patents we procure
may require cooperation with companies holdingteslgpatents. We may have difficulty forming a sisstel relationship with these other
companies.

We can give no assurance that a third party willal@im (with or without merit) that we have infgad or misappropriated their
proprietary rights. A variety of third parties hasetained, and are attempting to obtain, paterteption relating to the production and use of
rhIGF-I and/or rhIGFBP-3. We can give no assuramse® whether any issued patents, or patentsrthgtater issue to third parties, would
affect our contemplated commercialization of rhi&RIGFBP-3 or rhIGFBP3. We can give no assurances that such patent($)ecavoidec
invalidated or licensed. If any third party wereasert a claim for infringement, we can give reugances that we would be successful in the
litigation or that such litigation would not havereterial adverse effect on our business, finarcatition and results of operation.
Furthermore, we may not be able to afford the egperi defending against such a claim.

Third parties, including Genentech Inc. and Chi@mrporation hold United States and/or foreign pat@ossibly directed to the
composition, production and/or use of rhIGF-I, rREP-3, rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 and/or recombinant proseiim general. After examining these
patents, we do not believe they present an obstader plans to commercialize rhIGF-1/rhiIGFBP-3ahlGFBP-3. However, we can
provide no assurance that any one of these thittepawill not assert in the future a contrary piosi, for instance in the context of an
infringement action. Moreover, while we cannot pcedith certainty the outcome of such a proceedargadverse ruling could impact our
ability to make, use or sell our products.

In addition, Novartis AG and Chiron Corporation bBaights to United States and foreign patentsirgdb the use of IGF-1 for the
treatment of type 1 diabetes, and Novartis owngddrstates and foreign patents
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relating to the treatment of osteoporosis with IGFEsenentech, Inc. owns U.S. and foreign pateméxtid to using IGF-I to increase the
growth rate of certain patients with non-GH-defitishort stature and patients having partial grdwahmone insensitivity syndrome. We do
not expect that we will infringe these patents. &a give no assurances, however, that such patentse avoided, invalidated or licensed.
Thus, the patents could potentially have an adweffeet on our ability to make, use or sell rhiIGFRIGFBP-3 for certain indications.

We may have to undertake costly litigation to eofoany patents issued or licensed to us or tordeterthe scope and validity of
another party’s proprietary rights. We can giveagsurances that a court of competent jurisdictionlevvalidate our issued or licensed
patents. An adverse outcome in litigation or apriirence or other proceeding in a court or paiffite could subject us to significant
liabilities to other parties, require us to licembgputed rights from other parties or requireaisdase using such technology, any of which
could materially adversely affect our businessfitial condition and results of operations.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and othermay not adequately prevent disclosure of trade seets and other proprietary
information. Disclosure of this information may materially adversely affect our business, financial aadition and results of operations.

In order to protect our proprietary technology andcesses, we rely in part on confidentiality agrests with our corporate partners,
employees, consultants, outside scientific collalm®s and sponsored researchers and other advis@se agreements may not effectively
prevent disclosure of confidential information andy not provide an adequate remedy in the evemhadfithorized disclosure of confidential
information. In addition, others may independenilscover trade secrets and proprietary informat@wstly and time-consuming litigation
could be necessary to enforce and determine theesaioour proprietary rights, and failure to obtaimrmaintain trade secret protection could
adversely affect our competitive business position.

Third-party claims that our products infringe on th eir proprietary rights may materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We have entered into license agreements, and may iato future license agreements, with variooersees to develop and market our
products, and we can give no assurances thatghtees will not claim that we and/or our licensd®spracticing our technology, are
infringing on their proprietary rights. If other mpanies successfully bring legal actions againstrusir licensees claiming patent or other
intellectual property infringements, in additionany potential liability for damages, a court cotéduire us and/or our licensees to obtain a
license in order to continue to use the affectet@sses or to manufacture or use the affected pigcar alternatively, require us and/or our
licensees to cease using such products or procéases a result may have an adverse effect onuginéss, financial condition and results of
operations. Any such claim, with or without mecibuld result in costly litigation or might requius and/or our licensees to enter into royalty
or licensing agreements, all of which could delaptherwise adversely impact the development ofpmtential products for commercial use.
If a court requires us to obtain licenses, therelmno assurance that we and/or our licenseedevible to obtain them on commercially
favorable terms, if at all. Without such licenses,and/or our licensees may be unable to develdpiegroducts. Our breach of an existing
license or our failure to obtain, or our delay btaining, a license to any technology that we negta commercialize our products may
materially adversely impact our business, financtaddition and results of operations.

On December 20, 2004, Tercica, Inc. filed a conmplagainst Avecia Limited, Insmed, Inc. and Genemténc. in the United Kingdom
at the High Court of Justice, Chancery Divisionterés Court alleging infringement of EP patent Blo1,417 (“the 417 patent”). The ‘417
patent has claims directed to particular usesaafmabination of IGFBP-3 and IGF-I. In the complaifigrcica, Inc. asked the court for an
injunction to restrain allegedly infringing actiyjtfor a declaration that the ‘417 patent is validl infringed, for an order requiring the
delivery or destruction of allegedly infringing iates and materials and for an inquiry into possixtonomic damages.

26



Table of Contents

On February 11, 2005, Avecia and Insmed filed eebsé and Counterclaim to Tercica Inc.’s suit. drdefense, Avecia and Insmed
asserted, among other things, that the ‘417 p&envalid and that the Claimant failed to propawgister its license. In this Counterclaim,
Avecia and Insmed also asked the court to revokedth7 patent.

Insmed cannot predict with certainty the outcoméhif proceeding. We note, however, that an adweits®y could impact our ability t
make, use or sell our products.

Tercica, Inc. filed, on December 23, 2004, a complagainst Insmed in the United States District@éor the Northern District of
California alleging infringement of U.S. patent N&s187,151 and 6,331,414. These patents are @if¢atcertain methods of using IGF-
I/IGFBP-3 and methods of producing human IGF-Ipessively. On February 16, 2005, Tercica, Inc. @mhentech, Inc. filed an Amended
Complaint, adding allegations of infringement oSUpatent No. 5,258,287 (“the ‘287 patent”). Tharak of the ‘287 patent are directed to
DNA encoding BP53 (i.e. IGFBP-3) and recombinantstoucts, transformed host cells and methods fiogusame.

On February 18, 2005, Insmed filed a motion to dsrthe Amended Complaint. In the motion, Insmesitded that all alleged
activities fall within the statutory safe-harboopided by 35 U.S.C. § 271(e)(1), commonly callegl ¢hnical trial exemption. This exemption
prevents patent infringement actions from beingdfihgainst activities reasonably related to ohtgiiDA approval of a product, such as
when the product is still being tested in clinité@ls. Insmed further asserted, among other thithgd Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim
the requested relief, have not sued the propey,daate failed to name all the proper plaintiffgldrave failed to establish the existence of a
sufficiently real and substantial controversy betwéhe parties. Insmed requested immediate dishasSummary Judgment against the
plaintiff's allegation on these grounds.

Insmed cannot predict with certainty the outcom#hi proceeding. We note, however, that an adweilseg could impact our ability t
make, use or sell our products.

An inability to compete successfully will materialy adversely affect our business, financial conditimand results of operations.

We engage in a business characterized by exteresearch efforts, rapid developments and intensgettion. We cannot assure that
our products will compete successfully or that aeske and development by others will not renderpyoducts obsolete or uneconomical. Our
failure to compete effectively would materially &asely affect our business, financial condition egglilts of operations. We expect that
successful competition will depend, among otherghj on product efficacy, safety, reliability, dadility, timing and scope of regulatory
approval and price. Specifically, we expect crufaators will include the relative speed with whiglk can develop products, complete the
clinical testing and regulatory approval processes supply commercial quantities of the produghtomarket. We expect competition to
increase as technological advances are made andeial applications broaden. In each of our paéptoduct areas, we face substantial
competition from large pharmaceutical, biotechnglagd other companies, as well as universitiesrasearch institutions. Relative to us,
most of these entities have substantially greatpital resources, research and development stafitities and experience in conducting
clinical trials and obtaining regulatory approvals,well as in manufacturing and marketing pharmt@éea products. Many of our competitc
may achieve product commercialization or patentgmtion earlier than we will. Furthermore, we bedighat our competitors have used, and
may continue to use, litigation to gain a competitadvantage. Finally, our competitors may usestéfit technologies or approaches to the
development of products similar to the productsaneeseeking to develop.

Since all of our products are under developmentcaveot predict the relative competitive positiéroor products if they are approved
for use. However, we expect that the following émst among others, will determine our ability torquete effectively:

 safety and efficacy;

» product price;
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» ease of administration; and

» marketing and sales capability.

Currently, no drug in the United States or Eurapafproved and marketed as replacement theraplyefdreatment of GHIS. We are
aware of only one other company, Tercica, Inct ipursuing development of a product for thiséation or a similar indication. On
February 28, 2005 Tercica announced that it hachg&tdrl an NDA for the use of rhIGF-1 in the longrtetreatment of growth failure in
children with a severe form of primary IGF defiadgnWe believe this indication would include pateewith GHIS. We believe Tercica may
also be planning to develop rhiGF-I for some ofshee indications that we plan to pursue with rRlIGBHGFBP-3.

Growth hormone may also be a competitive productife treatment of some indications that we magpeiwith rhiIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3.
The major suppliers of commercially available grolWwbrmone are Genentech, Eli Lilly, Novo Nordiskzer and Serono. We believe that
Novo Nordisk may be conducting clinical trials fbe use of its growth hormone in pediatric -1 deficiency. We are also aware that Serono
is conducting a Phase lll trial with growth hormdoethe treatment of HIV associated adipose redisgtion syndrome.

In addition, we believe that Genentech, Merck, Nblawdisk and Pfizer have previously conducted nedeand development of orally-
available small molecules that cause the releageosith hormone, known as growth hormone secretagmg/Ne are not aware of any
continued clinical development of these moleculethese companies. We believe that Rejuvenon Catipormay have licensed certain
rights to Novo Nordisk’s growth hormone secretagesgwhich are in pre-clinical development. We dse aware that Theratechnologies is
developing various peptides that stimulate theassdeof hormones that could be used in the treatofesttime of the same indications we plan
to pursue with rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3.

Many companies are seeking to develop productdtardpies for the treatment of diabetes. Our congpstinclude multinational
pharmaceutical companies, specialized biotechndiiogns, and universities and other research insitis. Our largest competitors include
Amylin Pharmaceuticals, Bristol-Myers Squibb Comypdali Lilly, GlaxoSmithKline, Merck, Novartis, NavNordisk and Takeda Chemical
Industries. Various products are currently avadabltreat type 2 diabetes, such as insulin anchgpoglycemic drugs.

In addition, several companies are developing waritew approaches to improve the treatments oftyged type 2 diabetes.
Specifically, Amylin Pharmaceuticals has conduaad is continuing to conduct clinical trials forayroducts, Symlin and Exenatide, for
treatment of type 2 diabetes. Tercica has indicttatit plans to pursue the development of rhiGifrthe treatment of severe forms of
diabetes.

Many companies are pursuing the development ofymtsdor the treatment of cancer. Our competitoctuide multinational
pharmaceutical companies, specialized biotechndiiogyg, and universities and other research insitis. Although we are unaware of any
companies developing rhIGFBP-3 for cancer we ar@rawf companies who are developing products teeinéended to target the same
pathway as rhIGFBP-3.

Biotechnology and related pharmaceutical technolmase undergone and should continue to experieapid and significant change.
We expect that the technologies associated wittetimology research and development will contirugelvelop rapidly. Our future will
depend in large part on our ability to maintairoanpetitive position with respect to these technigl®gAny compounds, products or proce:
that we develop may become obsolete before we ez@ny expenses incurred in connection with theitetbpment. Rapid technological
change could make our products obsolete, whichdomatterially adversely affect our business, finahcondition and results of operations.

Our inability to compete in our industry could nré#y adversely affect our business, financial dition and results of operations.
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Our research, development and manufacturing activies involve the use of hazardous materials, whictoald expose us to damages
that could materially adversely affect our businessfinancial condition and results of operations.

Our research, development and manufacturing aesvilhvolve the controlled use of hazardous mdteriacluding hazardous chemic
and radioactive materials. We believe that our @doices for handling hazardous materials comply feideral and state regulations; howe
there can be no assurance that accidental injucpmtamination from these materials will not ocdarthe event of an accident, we could be
held liable for any damages, which could exceedawailable financial resources, including our irgwe coverage. This liability could
materially adversely affect our business, financa@idition and results of operations.

We are subject to federal, state and local lawsragdlations governing the use, manufacture, segrlagndling and disposal of
hazardous materials and waste products. Thesealativeegulations may require us to incur significaogts to comply with environmental
laws and regulations in the future that could maligradversely affect our business, financial atind and results of operations.

We may be subject to product liability claims ifrqaroducts harm people, and we have only limitemtipct liability insurance.

The manufacture and sale of human therapeutic pteduvolve an inherent risk of product liabilittaoms and associated adverse
publicity. We currently have only limited produ@bility insurance for clinical trials and no comroial product liability insurance. We do r
know if we will be able to maintain existing or abt additional product liability insurance on acizdgte terms or with adequate coverage
against potential liabilities. This type of insucans expensive and may not be available on adsleptrms. If we are unable to obtain or
maintain sufficient insurance coverage on reas@niss or to otherwise protect against potentiadipct liability claims, we may be unable
to commercialize our products. A successful prodlability claim brought against us in excess of osurance coverage, if any, may require
us to pay substantial amounts. This could havetanmahadverse effect our business, financial chowliand results of operations.

The market price of our stock has been and may coimue to be highly volatile, and we do not anticipa paying any cash dividends on
our common stock in the foreseeable future.

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Nationatikddt under the ticker symbol “INSM.” The markeicgrof our stock has been and
may continue to be highly volatile, and announcemby us or by third parties may have a significgengact on our stock price. These
announcements may include:

» our listing status on the Nasdaqg National Market;

« results of our clinical trials and pre-clinical diess, or those of our corporate partners or ourpeditors;
* our operating results;

» developments in our relationships with corporatereas;

» developments affecting our corporate partners;

* negative regulatory action or regulatory approvihwespect to our announcement or our competigmaouncement of new
products;

» government regulations, reimbursement changes everigmental investigations or audits related toru® our products;
» developments related to our patents or other petg rights or those of our competitors;
» changes in the position of securities analysts vafipect to our stock; and/or

» operating results below the expectations of publicket analysts and investors.

In addition, the stock market has from time to tiexperienced extreme price and volume fluctuatiatisch have particularly affected
the market prices for emerging biotechnology amghbarmaceutical
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companies, and which have often been unrelatdukeio dperating performance. These broad marketufations may adversely affect the
market price of our common stock.

In the past, when the market price of a stock le&nlvolatile, holders of that stock have oftenitintgd securities class action litigation
against the company that issued the stock. If amppshareholders brought a lawsuit against us;audd incur substantial costs defending
the lawsuit. The lawsuit could also divert the tiamal attention of our management.

Future sales by existing shareholders may loweptiee of our common stock, which could resultaedes to our shareholders. Future
sales of substantial amounts of common stock inpthmic market, or the possibility of such saleswcing, could adversely affect prevailing
market prices for our common stock or our futuritglio raise capital through an offering of equstecurities. Substantially all of our
common stock is freely tradable in the public markighout restriction under the Securities Act 88B, unless these shares are held by
“affiliates” of our company, as that term is defin@ Rule 144 under the Securities Act.

We have never paid dividends on our common stoak cWrently intend to retain our future earnin§sny, to fund the development
and growth of our businesses and, therefore, weotlanticipate paying any cash dividends in thedeeable future.

Certain provisions of Virginia law, our articles of incorporation and our amended and restated bylawsand our Stockholder Rights
Plan make a hostile takeover by a third party diffcult.

Certain provisions of Virginia law and our articlesincorporation and amended and restated bylaukichamper a third party’s
acquisition of, or discourage a third party froteatpting to acquire control of us. The conditionsld also limit the price that certain
investors might be willing to pay in the future &irares of our common stock. These provisions declu

» a provision allowing us to issue preferred stocthwights senior to those of the common stock withemy further vote or action by
the holders of the common stock. The issuanceafemed stock could decrease the amount of earasingsssets available for
distribution to the holders of common stock or coativersely affect the rights and powers, includioting rights, of the holders of
the common stock. In certain circumstances, sughaisce could have the effect of decreasing theeharice of the common stoc

 the existence of a staggered board of directonghich there are three classes of directors sestaggered three-year terms, thus
expanding the time required to change the comjpposif a majority of directors and perhaps discoingi@gomeone from making an
acquisition proposal for u

» the amended and restated bylaws’ requirement bfzaiekolders provide advance notice when nominatimglirectors;

« the inability of shareholders to convene a shaddrsl meeting without the Chairman of the Boareé, Biesident or a majority of the
board of directors first calling the meeting; ¢

+ the application of Virginia law prohibiting us froemtering into a business combination with the beia¢ owner of 10% or more of
our outstanding voting stock for a period of thyears after the 10% or greater owner first rea¢hatllevel of stock ownership,
unless we meet certain criter

In addition, in May 2001 our board of directors epyed the adoption of a Shareholder Rights Plareundiich shareholders received
rights to purchase new shares of preferred stoglp#rson or group acquires 15% or more of our comstock. These provisions are inten
to discourage acquisitions of 15% or more of oungmn stock without negotiations with the board. Tigats trade with our common stock,
unless and until they are separated upon the aawerof certain future events. Our board of dinscteay redeem the rights at a price of
$0.01 per right prior to the time a person acqulig% or more of our common stock.
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Available Information and Corporate Governance Documents.

Our Internet website address is: www.insmed.calfe make available free of charge through our welsir Annual Report on Form
10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Repon Form 8-K and amendments to those reports ditdurnished pursuant to Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act &4,%s amended, as soon as reasonably practiderlswech documents are electronically
filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Eange Commission. In addition, our Corporate Gaaece Guidelines, Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics, and the charters of our A@bimpensation and Nominating of Governance Comnsithee available on our website and
are available in print, without charge, to any shatder upon written request by writing our Treasand Controller at 4851 Lake Brook
Drive, Glen Allen, Virginia 23060. The informatiam our website is not, and shall not be deemee @ Ipart of this report or incorporated
into any other filings we make with the Securitéesl Exchange Commission.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We occupy 46,000 square feet of office and laboyagpace in Glen Allen, Virginia and 30,000 squiaet of manufacturing and
warehouse space in Boulder, Colorado. Our annsél cast for the Virginia space including utilitiésd services in 2004 was approximately
$1.1 million under an operating lease that contamsual escalations of 1.75% and expires in Oct@bé6. Our annual cash cost for the
Colorado space including utilities and service2004 was approximately $0.6 million under an opegglease that contains an annual
escalation of 3% and expires in February 2008. Bliee that our existing facilities are adequatediar current needs and that suitable
additional or alternate space will be availablecommercially reasonable terms when our lease expirevhen we need additional space.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On December 20, 2004, Tercica, Inc. and Genentexlfiled a complaint against Avecia Limited andrred, Inc. in the United
Kingdom at the High Court of Justice, Chancery Biom, Patents Court alleging infringement of ERepailNo. 571,417 (“the 417 patent”).
The ‘417 patent has claims directed to particutaswof a combination of IGFBP-3 and IGF-I. In teenplaint, Tercica, Inc. asked the court
for an injunction to restrain allegedly infringiragtivity, for a declaration that the ‘417 patenvadid and infringed, for an order requiring the
delivery or destruction of allegedly infringing iafes and materials and for an inquiry into possiistonomic damages.

On February 11, 2005, Avecia and Insmed filed eebsé and Counterclaim to Tercica Inc.’s suit. drdefense, Avecia and Insmed
asserted, among other things, that the ‘417 p&envalid and that the Claimant failed to propagister its license. In its Counterclaim,
Avecia and Insmed also asked the court to revokedth7 patent.

Insmed cannot predict with certainty the outcoméhif proceeding. We note, however, that an adweits®y could impact our ability t
make, use or sell our products.

Tercica, Inc. filed, on December 23, 2004, a complagainst Insmed in the United States District@éor the Northern District of
California alleging infringement of U.S. patent N&s187,151 and 6,331,414. These patents are @if¢atcertain methods of using IGF-
I/IGFBP-3 and methods of producing human IGF-Ipessively. On February 16, 2005, Tercica, Inc. @mhentech, Inc. filed an Amended
Complaint, adding allegations of infringement oSUpatent No. 5,258,287 (“the ‘287 patent”). Tharak of the ‘287 patent are directed to
DNA encoding BP53 (i.e. IGFBP-3) and recombinantstoucts, transformed host cells and methods fiogusame.

On February 18, 2005, Insmed filed a motion to dsrthe Amended Complaint. In the motion, Insmesded that all alleged
activities fall within the statutory safe-harboopided by 35 U.S.C. § 271(e)(1), commonly callegl ¢hnical trial exemption. This exemption
prevents patent infringement actions from being
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filed against activities reasonably related to olitg FDA approval of a product, such as when trealpct is still being tested in clinical tria
Insmed further asserted, among other things, taéti#fs have failed to state a claim for the reqted relief, have not sued the proper party,
have failed to name all the proper plaintiffs amgd failed to establish the existence of a suffityereal and substantial controversy between
the parties. Insmed requested immediate dismissalimmary Judgment against the plaintiff's allegiatbn these grounds.

Insmed cannot predict with certainty the outcoméhaf proceeding. We note however, that an adweilsey could impact our ability to
make, use or sell our products.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
There were no matters submitted to a vote of oarettolders during the quarter ended December 3¥.20
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PART Il

ITEM5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
REPURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock began trading on The Nasdaq Sagallarket on June 1, 2000. We moved from The NaSaaajlCap Market to
the Nasdaq National Market on August 8, 2000.

Our trading symbol is “INSM.The following table lists, for the periods indicdt¢he high and low sale prices per share for oarraon
stock as reported on The Nasdaq National Market.

Insmed
Common Stock

Fiscal Year 2004 High Low

Fourth Quarte $2.48 $1.24
Third Quartel 2.3t 1.0C
Second Quarte 3.4C 1.9¢
First Quarte 4.2¢ 2.87
Fiscal Year 2003 High Low

Fourth Quarte $3.4C  $2.5C
Third Quartel 3.7¢ 1.9¢
Second Quarte 3.5¢ 0.6C
First Quarte 0.6t 0.3¢

On February 28, 2005, the last reported sale foiceur common stock on the Nasdaq National Mavkeet $1.29 per share. As of
February 28, 2005, there were 565 holders of reebolir common stock.

We have never declared or paid dividends on oumtomstock. We anticipate that we will retain altréags, if any, to support
operations and to finance the growth and developwieour business. Therefore, we do not expecttogash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Any future determination as to the paynardividends will be at the sole discretion of dnaard of directors and will depend on our
financial condition, results of operations, capreduirements and other factors our board of dirsaieems relevant.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

In the table below, we provide you with selectedsmidated financial data. We have prepared tHiggimation using the consolidated
financial statements of Insmed for the five yeardezl December 31, 2004. The acquisition of Cetfigsed on May 31, 2000. The purchase
method of accounting was used to account for #estction. Accordingly, the results of operatiarrsGeltrix are included in the historical
financial information commencing June 1, 2000. Tihancial statements for each of the five fiscangeended December 31, 2004 have been
audited by Ernst & Young LLP, our independent reggisd public accounting firm.
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When you read this selected historical financiahd# is important that you also read the hisw@rfmancial statements and related nc
as well as “Management’s Discussion and AnalysBinéncial Condition and Results of Operations’pages 31 to 35.

Historical Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue:
Operating expense
Research and developmt
General and administrati
Operational restructuring char
Goodwill write-off
Purchased research and developn
Stock compensatia

Total operating expens

Operating los!
Interest income, ne

Loss before income taxi
Income tax expens

Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per sh
Weighted average shar

Historical Balance Sheet Data

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secu

Total asset
Stockholder' equity

Year Ended December 31,

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
$ — $ 60 $ 29€ $ 195 $ 15C $ 137
5,657 21,60¢ 35,50¢ 18,07" 7,14( 23,32(
2,18¢ 5,98¢ 4,881 2,98¢ 3,471 4,24;

— — — 2,53: — —

— — — 15,38¢ — —

— 50,43t — — — —

28E 3,56¢ 95 — 11¢

8,131 81,50¢ 40,48: 38,97¢ 10,73¢ 27,56:
(8,13)  (81,53) (40,18 (37,029 (10,580 (27,429
33¢ 1,87¢ 3,017 607 28¢ 227
(7,799 (79,669 (37,169  (36,41) (10,299 (27,209

— 20C — — — —
(7,799 (79,869 (37,169  (36,41) (10,299 (27,209
(2.47) (4.3€) (1.19) (1.10) (0.29) (0.6€)
3,15¢ 18,31¢ 32,87 33,06¢ 35,60( 39,16(
$4,63% $8308: $51,25( $27,337 $29,52¢ $ 9,22
529¢ 102,71 71,60¢ 28,30¢ 29,81 13,01:
4,46z 96,78: 59,69¢ 23,44¢ 26,22( 7,23¢
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion also should be read injwoction with the Consolidated Financial Statemeartd notes thereto.

Overview

We discover and develop pharmaceutical productthfotreatment of metabolic and endocrine disord&eshave 3 lead drug
candidates—rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3, rhIGFBP-3 and INSM-D&iring 2004 we initiated a pivotal Phase Il stwdth rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 in
GHIS and a Phase | study with rhIGFBP-3 in canixo during 2004 we were successful in manufactudlinical grade rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3
at Avecia and commissioned our ITP facility in Baed, Colorado. On January 3, 2005 we submitted@A b the FDA for the use of rhIGF-
1/rhIGFBP-3 in the treatment of GHIS, and on Ma4¢c2005 we received acceptance of the filing foARBview. We are continuing our
Phase llI clinical trial in order to obtain longredata and plan to submit a MAA to the EMEA foistmdication. Our plans for 2005 include:

» Obtain NDA approval for rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 in GHIS

« Initiate clinical trials to expand rhIGF-I/rhiIGFBPinto additional niche indications
» Establish commercial activities consistent with FBgproval process

» Capitalize through debt/equity and partnership feesustain 2005/2006 operations
» Establish European partner for rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-8 giobal partner for rhiIGFBP-3
» Aggressively defend patent lawsuits in the Unitéates and United Kingdom

We have not been profitable and have accumulaticitdeof approximately $213.7 million through Dexber 31, 2004. We expect to
incur significant additional losses for at least trext several years until such time as sufficieménues are generated to offset expenses. In
general, our expenditures may increase as develapoheur product candidates progresses. Howelreretwill be fluctuations from period
to period caused by differences in project costarired at each stage of development.

The full cost and completion dates, through comimaézation, of our current research and developnpeojects, rhIGF-1/rhIGFBR- anc
rhIGFBP-3, are entirely dependent on the resulmuofcurrent Phase Il and Il clinical trials fdiGF-1/rhIGFBP-3, together with the
subsequent review of the Phase Il results withRB&, and our Phase | and pre-clinical trials whhGFBP-3. Therefore, the estimated full
cost of completion and the final completion datasdur current research and development projeetsiaknown at this time.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2004 compared to Year Hddeember 31, 2003

For the year ended December 31, 2004, we recordetllass of $27.2 million. Research and develofiragpenses (which consist
primarily of costs associated with clinical tri@mfsour product candidates, including the costs ahuofacturing, compensation and other
expenses related to research and development petsaord facilities expenses) increased $16.2 milfiiom $7.1 million in 2003 to $23.3
million in 2004. This rise in spending resultednfra broader clinical trials program and an increaseanufacturing activity at our ITP
facility and at our contract manufacturer Avecigptoduce rhiIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 for our clinical trials,

General and administrative expenses increasedilign from $3.6 million for 2003 to $4.3 milliofor 2004. The increase was due to
higher external service and personnel costs in@tm our business. Revenues decreased $13,000%160,000 in 2003 to $137,000 in
2004 due to a slight decline in royalties.
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As of December 31, 2004, cash and cash equivaliecteased to $9.2 million from $29.5 million at Beter 31, 2003. As a result of a
lower average cash balance and lower interest @304 compared to 2003, net interest incomeeadesad $66,000 from $288,000 in 200
$222,000 million in 2004.

Accounts payable and accrued project costs incdedtd. million from $2.4 million at December 31,080to $3.5 million at December
31, 2004 as a result of increased clinical and rfeenturing activity. Stockholders’ equity decreagd®.0 million mainly as a result of the net
loss for 2004 of $27.2 million being partially aétsby approximately $8.0 million in net proceedsaiged in connection with a private
placement of our common stock on November 8, 2084.accumulated deficit at December 31, 2004 irsgeédo approximately $213.8
million due to our 2004 net loss of $27.2 million.

Year Ended December 31, 2003 compared to Year Hddeember 31, 2002

For the year ended December 31, 2003, we recordetllass of $10.3 million. Research and develofiragpenses (which consist
primarily of costs associated with clinical tri@mfsour product candidates, including the costs ahuofacturing, compensation and other
expenses related to research and development petsaord facilities expenses) decreased $11.0 miffiem $18.1 million in 2002 to $7.1
million in 2003 as a result of decreased clinicall &ctivity.

Clinical and contract manufacturing costs relatethe development of rhIGF-I/rhIGFBP-3 decreasgut@aaimately $0.3 million from
$3.5 million in 2002, to $3.2 million in 2003 as wempleted the development phase and began towgzaler production process for rhIGF-
I/rhIGFBP-3 and rhIGFBP-3 with our contract mantifmer, Avecia.

General and administrative expenses increased$i0ién from $3.0 million for 2002 to $3.5 milliofor 2003. The increase, although
seen across all support services, was primarilytdinrgher external service costs.

In the third quarter of 2002, we recorded a restmireg charge of $2.5 million related to the preagty announced discontinuation of ¢
INS-1 development program. The components of thésge include expenses of $1.2 million relatechéanticipated payouts under lease
agreements for laboratory space no longer utilatezr headquarters, $0.7 million related to thepaimment of idle laboratory equipment at
our headquarters, and $0.6 million related to th&t of severance benefits following the terminatéapproximately 55% of our workforce.
We also recorded a $15.4 million goodwill write offthe fourth quarter of 2002 relating to the @elacquisition in 2000.

Revenues decreased $1.8 million from $2.0 millim2002 to $0.2 million in 2003. The decrease ireneres as compared with 2002 is
due to the recognition of approximately $1.7 miiliof revenue from an international license feellii$-1 from Taisho Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. This represents revenues, previously defefredh a cash payment made by Taisho at the inaepfithe Joint Development Agreement
with us in 2000, which was being recognized asmaeeover the life of the corresponding patent. Asfio announced the termination of this
agreement, the balance of the unrecognized reweaseecorded in the third quarter of 2002.

As of December 31, 2003, cash and cash equivaleresased to $29.5 million from $27.3 million atd@enber 31, 2002. As a result
lower average cash balance and lower interest @303 compared to 2002, net interest incomeeadesad $0.3 million from $0.6 million in
2003 to $0.3 million in 2003.

Accounts payable and accrued project costs deat¢ks8 million from $3.2 million at December 31,020t0 $2.4 million at December
31, 2003 as a result of decreased clinical and faaturing activity. Stockholders’ equity increaskl8 as a result of approximately $13.0
million in proceeds received by us in connectiothvei private placement of our common stock on 18ly2003, net of the loss in 2004. The
accumulated deficit at December 31, 2003 incressagproximately $186.5 million due to our 2003 lests of $10.3 million.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

There is considerable time and cost associateddeitieloping a potential drug or pharmaceutical pobdo the point where FDA
approval for sales is received. In our financiahagement, we seek to raise the funds necessasydbrdevelopment primarily through the
issuance of equity securities in private placent@msactions. However, it is our intention to persalditional financing options, including
entering into agreements with corporate partnemsdier to provide milestone payments, license éebequity investments.

Capital Requirements

Expenditures in the year ended December 31, 2004 principally related to the research and devekprincreased clinical trial
activity and manufacturing activities at our siteBoulder, Colorado, as well as administrative supactivities. In the short-term, we will
need to raise substantial additional funds to ocomrtithe development and approval process with cespeur lead drug products. In the
longer-term, we will require substantial additiohaids for the commercialization of those produ€sr continuation as a going concern
depends on our ability to obtain such additionadificing and, ultimately, to generate positive dask and attain profitability. There can be
no assurance that adequate funds will be availabén we need them or on favorable terms. If attang we are unable to obtain sufficient
additional funds, we will be required to delay,tries or eliminate some or all of our research evelopment programs, dispose of assets or
technology or cease operations.

Planned expenditures in 2005 include the fundingusfongoing R & D activity, such as manufacturangl clinical trial costs, General
and Administrative support costs plus initial comanaization efforts associated with the anticigh#gproval of our NDA.

Capital Resources

We have funded our operations to date primarilgdlgh public and private placements of equity sé¢iestiWe plan to continue
incurring losses as we expand our research andagement and do not expect material revenues ftmaat the next several years. At
December 31, 2004, our cash and cash investmenésapproximately $9.2 million and were investednoney market instruments. This is a
decrease from $29.5 million at December 31, 2088pite the conclusion, in November 2004, of a peiydacement of 6,455,551 shares of
our common stock to a group of institutional ineestat a price of $1.35 per share, which raiseda of approximately $8.7 million. The
placement agent in the transaction received apmabely $572,000 in fees and expenses (including eé to the placement agent’s
attorneys) resulting in net proceeds of approxitge8.0 million. We also issued warrants to purehas additional 3,227,775 shares of our
common stock with an exercise price of $2.00 paresh

On March 15, 2005, we entered into several purchgssements with a group of institutional investprgsuant to which we issued and
sold to the investors approximately $35,000,000eggfe principal amount of 5.5% convertible notasich notes are convertible into our
common stock, par value $0.01 per share, as welbasants to purchase, in the aggregate, 14,86488@s of our common stock, at an
exercise price of $1.36 per share. The principa&awh note will mature and be payable in nine gulgrinstallments of approximately
$3,890,000 commencing on March 1, 2008. Any outitannotes must be repaid in cash or converted asch1, 2010. Commencing on
June 1, 2005, the notes will bear interest at@eb5.5% per annum and is payable quarterly consingron March 1, 2008. The holders of
the notes may convert the notes into our commaorksiba conversion price of $1.295 per share asstat] in accordance with certain
adjustments for stock splits, dividends and the ékany time prior to the close of business ondkldr, 2010. The notes are convertible into,
in the aggregate, 27,027,027 shares of our commaok.sThe warrants are immediately exercisablelhB64,883 shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $1.36 per sharevildreants will expire on March 15, 2010. The holdafrthe notes have the right to require us
to repurchase the notes with cash payments upeoodturrence of specified “events of default” areptirchase events.” The investors also
have the right to participate in future financingalertaken by us prior to March 16, 2005, subjecktrtain exceptions. In connection with
issuance of the notes and warrants, we enteredegtstration rights agreements with the
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investors pursuant to which we agreed to file ai®egion Statement under the Securities Act of3198gistering for resale the shares of
common stock issuable upon the conversion of thesnar exercise of the warrants.

With this additional funding the company believelas sufficient capital resources to fund our apens through the next twelve
months.

Our business strategy contemplates raising additicapital through equity sales. We also plan tereinto agreements with corporate
partners in order to fund research and developrm@hto provide milestone payments, license feesandy investments to fund our
operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemieatiive or are reasonably likely to have a cueifiture effect on our financial
condition, revenues or expenses, results of opargtiiquidity, capital expenditures or capitalaeses that we believe is material to
investors.

Contractual Obligations
We are obligated to make future payments undeouarcontracts as set forth below:

Payments due by period
(in thousands)

Less thar
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-4 years
Operating Lease Obligatiol 2,472 1,152 1,31¢
Total $2,47: $1,15: $1,31¢

Critical Accounting Policies

Preparation of financial statements requires usdke estimates and assumptions affecting the egbarhounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses and the disclosures of gentiassets and liabilities. We use our histoegakrience and other relevant factors when
developing our estimates and assumptions. We amiljnevaluate these estimates and assumptionsaddminting policies discussed below
are those we consider critical to an understandfraur consolidated financial statements becausie #ipplication places the most significant
demands on our judgment. Our financial results tiiglve been different if different assumptions hadn used or other conditions had
prevailed. For additional accounting policies, Blege 1 to our consolidated financial statement®estription of the Business and Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies”

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed aethdiesearch and development expenses consisdryi of salaries and related
expenses, cost to develop and manufacture prodondtamounts paid to contract research organizatmspitals and laboratories for the
provision of services and materials for drug depgient and clinical trials.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize expense for stock-based compensatiaccordance with the provisions of Accounting Eiptes Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employ, and related interpretations. Accordingly, compgias cost is recognized for the excess, if any, of
the estimated fair value of the stock at the gdaté over the exercise price. Disclosures regaralitegnative fair value measurement and
recognition methods prescribed by Financial AccmgnStandards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 128counting for Stock-Based
Compensatioras amended by FASB Statement No. J&;ounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Tramsd#itd Disclosure are
presented in Notes 1 and 2. The fair value forealagards was estimated at the date of grant useglackScholes pricing method assum
a weighted average volatility, a risk-free intenede, no dividends, and a weighted-average exgdifeeof the option.
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Stock options granted to non-employees are accddotén accordance with the Emerging Issues Tasgkd-(EITF) 96-18Accounting
for Equity Instruments that are issued to Othemtitanployees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction withlliig Goods or Service. Accordingly,
the estimated fair value of the equity instrumsnteicorded on the earlier of the performance comeiit date or the date the services reqt
are completed.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

We invest excess cash in investment grade, intbessing securities and, at December 31, 2004$Ba2imillion invested in money
market instruments. Such investments are subjéntecest rate and credit risk. Our policy of intieg in highly rated securities whose
maturities at December 31, 2004, are all less 8aaronths minimizes such risks. In addition, whileypdthetical 1.0% per annum decreas
market interest rates would reduce interest incom2005, it would not result in a loss of the pipat and the decline in interest income
would be deemed immaterial.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The information required by Item 8 is set forthpages F-1 to F-13.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on their evaluation, as of December 31, 20@Med Incorporated’s Chief Executive Officer &fdef Financial Officer have
concluded that Insmed Incorporated’s disclosurdrotsiand procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-#5(é)15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) are effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finarad Reporting

The management of Insmed Incorporated is respan&iblestablishing and maintaining adequate interoatrol over financial
reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15¢)1der the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,rasreded). Insmed Incorporatsdhterna
control over financial reporting was designed tovile reasonable assurance to Insmed Incorporateaiisgement and board of directors
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Insmed Incorporated’s management assessed théivedfexss of Insmed Incorporated’s internal conbradr financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004 based on the criteria set fgrthhd Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtreadway Commission (COSO) in
Internal Control— Integrated FrameworkManagement’s assessment included an evaluatitheafesign of Insmed Incorporated’s internal
control over financial reporting and testing of tperational effectiveness of Insmed Incorporatedtrnal control over financial reporting.
Based on this assessment, Insmed Incorporated’agearent concluded that, as of December 31, 208thdd Incorporated’internal contrc
over financial reporting was effective.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered pusaticounting firm, has issued an audit report onagament assessment of Insn
Incorporated’s internal control over financial refony. The report of Ernst & Young LLP is containedtem 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

There have been no changes in Insmed Incorporatgdimal control over financial reporting that aced during the three months
ended December 31, 2004 that have materially &ffectr are reasonably likely to materially affettch internal control over financial
reporting.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information presented under the captions “Nemd;’ “Directors Whose Terms Expire at the 2006 vatiMeeting (Class IlI
Directors),” “Directors Whose Terms Expire at tt@2 Annual Meeting (Class | Directors),” “Executi@dficers (other than those who are
also Directors.” “Section 16(a) Beneficial OwnepsReporting Compliance” and “Meetings of the Boandl its Committees — Audit
Committee” of the Company’s definitive Proxy Statrhfor the 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (005 Proxy Statement”) is
incorporated herein by reference. Such 2005 Preoate®ent will be filed with the Securities and Eange Commission in April 2005.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsHtiat applies to all of our directors, officersl@mployees (including our
President and Chief Executive Officer and our Tueaisand Controller) and have posted the Code sfri&ss Conduct and Ethics on our
website. We intend to satisfy the disclosure rezqagnt under Iltem 10 of Form 8-K relating to amenck®é or waivers from any provision
of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics apgictbour President and Chief Executive Officer and Treasurer and Controller by
posting this information on our website. Our Inttrwebsite address is www.insmed.coihe information on our website is not, and shall
not be deemed to be, part of this report or incatea into any other filings we make with the Séas and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information presented under the captions “Etteewfficer Compensation” and “Director Compensatiof the 2005 Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information presented under the captions “Stekiership” and “Equity Compensation Plan Inforroatiof the 2005 Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information presented under the caption “Cerelationships and Related Transactions” of tHE&Z®roxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information presented under the captions “Regd to Ernst & Young LLP” and “Audit Committee PA@proval Policy” of the
Audit Committee Report included in the 2005 Proxgt&ment is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORT S ON FORM 8-K
(@) Documents filed as part of this repc
1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. The following consolidated financial statementshaf Company are set forth herein,
beginning on page-1.:
(i) Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registdpetlic Accounting Firm
(i) Consolidated Balance Shee
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(b)

(iii) Consolidated Statements of Operatic

(iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity.
(v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Fla

(vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
None required.

3. EXHIBITS.

The exhibits that are required to be filed or ipmyated by reference herein are listed in the Exinbdex. Exhibit
10.17, 10.19 and 10.20 constitute management aistoa compensatory plans or arrangements reqtorbd filed as
exhibits hereto.

Reports on Form-K.

A report on Form 8-K (Iltems 1.01, 3.02, 8.01 arfellP. dated November 5, 2004, was furnished to teparong other things, that
the Insmed Incorporated issued a press releaseiacing its financial position, result of operatiarsd cash flows for the three-
month and nine-month periods ended September 83, @®t incorporated by reference).

A report on Form &, dated November 8, 2004 (Item 2.02), was furrdsteereport that Insmed Incorporated issued a pedeast
announcing that it had raised approximately $8Ifianiin gross proceeds from a private offeringtefcommon stock.

A report on Form 8-K, dated December 21, 2004 (18041 and 9.01), was furnished to report that Insineorporated issued a
press release in response to the commencemerawsait by Tercica Inc. against the Company anddéievery of a cease and
desist letter sent by Tercica to the Company.

A report on Form 8-K, dated December 30, 2004 (18201 and 9.01), was furnished to report that Irsineorporated issued a
press release in response to a lawsuit filed bgid@inc. filed in the United States District Cofot the Northern District of
California against the Company.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theéoedmly authorized in the City of Richmond, Commaalth of Virginia, on the 18 day of
March, 2005.

| NSMED | NCORPORATED
a Virginia corporation
(Registrant’

By: /s/ GEOFFREYA LLAN
Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D.
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélptihe following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacitiescadid on the 18day of March, 2005.

Signature Title

/s/ GEOFFREYA LLAN Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Exeeufifficer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D.

/sl KevINP. TuLLy Treasurer and Controller (Principal Financial arat@unting
Officer)

Kevin P. Tully C.G.A.

/s/ KENNETHG. CONDON Director

Kenneth G. Condon

/s/ GRAHAM K. C ROOKE Director

Graham K. Crooke, MB.BS

/s/ STEINAR J. ENGELSEN Director

Steinar J. Engelsen, M.D.

/s]  MELVIN SHAROKY Director

Melvin Sharoky, M.D.

/sl  RaNDALL W. W HITCOMB Director

Randall W. Whitcomb, M.D.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Insmed Incorporated

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Insmed Incorporated (the “Companydfd¥ecember 31, 2004 and
2003, and the related consolidated statementsaratipns, stockholders’ equity, and cash flowsefach of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2004. These financial statementdareesponsibility of the Company’s management. i@sponsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindmecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tildasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptegused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegaferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the consolidated financial
position of Insmed Incorporated at December 3142808 2003, and the consolidated results of itsatjpms and its cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 34,20 conformity with U.S. generally accepted agtting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
effectiveness of Insmed Incorporated’s internaltadrover financial reporting as of December 31020based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued byGloenmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TweadCommission and our report
dated March 15, 2005 expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

McLean, Virginia
March 15, 2005
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Insmed Incorporated

We have audited management’s assessment, inclndbed accompanying “Management’s Report on Inte@uadtrol over Financial
Reporting”, that Insmed Incorporated maintaine@eff/e internal control over financial reportinga<December 31, 2004, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framdwssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiaf the Treadway Commission
(the COSO criteria). Insmed Inc.’s managementspaasible for maintaining effective internal cohweer financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting. Our responsibility isé¢gpress an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectivene$e @admpany’s internal control over financial repagytbased on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadwdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri8q@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing ahgaéiag the design and operating effectivenessteirnal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary airthenstances. We believe that our audit providesaaonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircéal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainky reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkestents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (Bjige reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@izé statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periagssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Ingnoedporated maintained effective internal contreér financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all mategapects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, mopinion, Insmed Incorporated maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal cohtreer financial reporting as of December 31, 2(fased on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Insmed Incorpoested December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the relatesblidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each ofttiree years in the period ended December 31, 20@#our report dated March 15, 2005,
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

McLean, Virginia
March 15, 2005

F-2



Table of Contents

INSMED INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Other current asse

Total current asse

Long-term assets
Restricted cas—long-term portion
Property and equipment, r

Total asset

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued project cost
Payroll liabilities
Restructuring resen

Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Asset retirement obligatic
Restructuring reser—long-term portion
Total liabilities

Stockholder' equity:

Common stock, $.01 par value; authorized shareDB0MO00; issued and outstanding shares

44,893,496 in 2004 and 38,394,994 in 2
Additional capital
Accumulated defici
Net stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

December 31

$

$

$

$

2004

9,227
28¢
174

9,681

3,30¢

13,01:

2,621
884
1,18¢
36C
5,04¢

447
28F

5,77¢

44¢

220,51
(213,729

7,23¢

13,01:

December 31
2003

$ 29,52¢
22t
29,75

61

$ 29,810

$ 66C
1,743

20¢

334

2,94¢

64¢

3,592

384
212,36
(186,52f)

26,22(

$ 29,810
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INSMED INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

INSMED INCORPORATED
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Revenue: $ 137 $ 15C $ 1,95t
Operating expense
Research and developmt 23,32( 7,14C 18,071
General and administrati 4,24: 3,59¢ 2,98¢
Operational restructuring char — — 2,53:
Goodwill impairment charg — — 15,38¢
Total operating expens 27,56: 10,73¢ 38,97¢
Operating los! (27,42%) (10,58¢) (37,029
Interest incom 222 28¢ 607
Net loss $(27,207)  $(10,29¢)  $(36,41)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (069 $ (029 $ (1.10
Shares used in computing basic and diluted netdesshare 39,16( 35,60( 33,06¢

See accompanying notes.
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INSMED INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003, AND 2001

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Balance at December 31, 20C

Issuance of 198,282 shares of common stock upawcisge
of stock option:

Issuance of 56,289 shares of common stock from &yepl
Stock Purchase Ple

Comprehensive earning
Net loss
Comprehensive los

Balance at December 31, 20C

Issuance of 53,171 shares of common stock uportisrenf
stock options

Issuance of 36,439 shares of common stock from &yegl
Stock Purchase Pl:

Issuance of 5,146,846 shares of common stock &4l DA€
warrants for cash, net of offering costs of $973,

Recognition of stock compensation expense for dtarss

Stock re-purchase from Taish

Comprehensive earning
Net loss
Comprehensive los

Balance at December 31, 20C
Issuance of 6,091 shares of common stock upon isgest
stock options
Issuance of 36,860 shares of common stock from &yepl
Stock Purchase Pl:
Issuance of 6,455,551 shares of common stock &#Y 3,7
warrants for cash, net of offering costs of $602,
Recognition of stock compensation expense for dtarsts
Comprehensive earning
Net loss
Comprehensive los

Balance at December 31, 20C

Common
Additional
Stock Capital
$ 32¢ $199,17
2 12¢
1 42
33z 199,34
1 53
— 27
51 12,87:
1 11€
D (52)
384 212,36.
— 3
— 69
65 8,04¢
33
$ 44c¢ $220,51!

See accompanying notes.
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Accumulated

Deficit
$(139,81)

(36,41)

(176,22

(10,299

(186,52

(27,209

$(213,729

Accumulated
Comprehensive

Income (Loss)

Other

Total

$

$ 59,69t
127
43

(36,417
(36,417

23,44¢
54

27
12,92:
11¢
(53

(10,29%)
(10,29%)

26,22(
3
69

8,11:
33

(27,209
(27,20%)

$ 7,23t
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INSMED INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciatior
Stock issued for servict
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Due from Taisho Pharmaceutical Co., L
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued project cost
Payroll liabilities
Restructuring resen
Asset retirement obligatic

Net cash used in operating activit
Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common sl
Cash restricted to support letters of cr

Net cash provided by financing activiti

(Decrease) Increase in cash and cash equiv:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢

Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

See accompanying notes.
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Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2004 2003
$(27,209  $(10,299
34 96
33 11¢
— 19¢
51 39¢
1,961 (281)
(86%) (53€)
97¢ (159)
(3385) (29¢)
447 —
(24,90) (10,767
8,18¢ 12,95:
(3,585 —
4,597 12,95:
(20,309 2,18¢
29,52¢ 27,33
$ 922  $29,52
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INSMED INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of the Business and Summary of @iificant Accounting Policies

Insmed Incorporated (the “Company”) discovers agnaketbps pharmaceutical products for the treatmemtetabolic and endocrine
diseases. Abnormalities in the Growth Hormone (GhBLUIin-like Growth Factor | (IGF-1) axis often midéests in multiple endocrine and
metabolic conditions, such as growth disorders.i#althlly, other conditions such as diabetes a@erbated by imbalances in the GH/ IGF-
axis. Insmed’s cancer development program focusehl&FBP-3, the primary binding protein of IGFAAINSM-18. Insmed’s rhiIGFBP-3
technology may curtail abnormal cell growth by aatucing an excess of rhIGFBP-3 to bind and regdiateIGF-I. Since rhIGFBP-3
interrupts the cell growth signal early in the seoee, rhIGFBP-3 is considered an upstream grovetiorfanhibitor. INSM-18 binds to and
inhibits one of the key enzymes involved in the detkeam signaling pathway for IGF-I.

Insmed has three lead drug candidates: rhiIGF-IFBI&-3, which is expected to began Phase Il Clirtesting for GHIS in 2005,
rhIGFBP-3 is currently undergoing Phase | and Hiei€@l trials in the oncology area and INSM-18 lveihter clinical trials in 2005. The
Company is actively developing rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3tteat GHIS and diabetes, and are concurrenthirnaing Phase | and pre-clinical
studies on rhIGFBP-3 in the cancer indication aargitumor agent.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tu®ants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsiés, Insmed Therapeutic
Proteins, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Cdthiarmaceuticals, Inc. (“Celtrix”). All significaimtercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers investments with maturitfehree months or less when purchased to be cashadents.

On April 14, 2004 the Company announced that itdaglired a lease to operate a recombinant protamufacturing facility located in
Boulder, Colorado. The Company intends to usedbditly for the commercial manufacture of its PhHsdevelopment product, rhiGF-
I/rhiIGFBP-3. Insmed provided a Letter of Credithe landlord of the Boulder facility in the amowfit$1.6 million for prepayment of the
outstanding lease term of 4 years and a LetterediCto Baxter Healthcare Corporation for $2.0lionl to cover facility restoration expenses
on termination of the lease. These amounts areostgapby segregated cash and cash equivalentdassified as restricted cash on the
balance sheet.

Property and Equipment

Depreciation is provided using the straight-linetimoel over periods ranging from three to seven ydaaperty and equipment is stated

at cost and consists of the following:

December 31,

2004 2003

(in thousands)

Furniture and office equipme $ 511 $ 511

511 511
Accumulated depreciatic (484) (450
Property and equipment, r $ 27 $ 61
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INSMED INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company considers the recorded cost of itmiih assets and liabilities, which consist prifyaof cash and cash equivalents,
accounts payable, and accrued expenses to apptexingsfair value of the respective assets andlitiab at December 31, 2004 and 2003
due to the short-term maturities of these instrusien

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes expense for stock-basedarmation in accordance with the provisions of Actimg Principles Board
Opinion No. 25Accounting for Stock Issued to Employeasd related interpretations. Accordingly, compgios cost is recognized for the
excess, if any, of the estimated fair value ofdtuek at the grant date over the exercise priceclBsures regarding alternative fair value
measurement and recognition methods prescribedrayn&ial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) StagaNo. 123 Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensati@ne presented in Note 3. Stock options grante@teemployees are accounted for in accordance Witk B6-18,
Accounting for Equity Instruments that are issug@ther than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjtime with Selling Goods or Servic.
Accordingly, the estimated fair value of the equitgtrument is recorded on the earlier of the perimce commitment date or the date the
services required are completed.

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 148¢ounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Trans#ti@hDisclosurg“SFAS 148”), the
effect on net loss and net loss per share if theg2my had applied the fair value recognition priovis of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based
employee compensation is as follows:

Stock Compensation Expense
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Net Loss $(27,209  $(10,299  $(36,41))
Net Loss Per Share (Basic and Dilut $ (069 $ (029 $ (L.10
Stock based employee compensation cost (under AP — — —

Prc-forma Fair value stock compensation expe (1,85)) (2,007 (2,73))
Prc-Forma Net Incom (29,059 (13,13) (39,149
Prc-Forma Net Loss Per Share (Basic and Dilu $ (079 $ (039 $ (1.19

The fair value for these awards was estimatedeatifite of grant using the Black-Scholes pricingnmétassuming a weighted average
volatility of 89% in 2004, 127% in 2003, and 10682002, a risk-free interest rate of 3.83% in 2@a@% in 2003, and 3.0% in 2002, no
dividends, and a weighted-average expected litaebption of 5 years in 2004, 4.93 years in 2088%7 years in 2002. Compensation
expense for fixed awards with pro-rata vestingeognized under the straight-line method.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from license agreements is generally répegmover the term of the agreement, or in cegatumstances, when milestones
are met. Amounts received for which there is aruperformance obligation, are deferred and re@eghon a straight-line basis over the life
of the agreement.
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INSMED INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed athdResearch and development expenses consisryi of salaries and related
expenses, cost to develop and manufacture prodndtamounts paid to contract research organizatimspitals and laboratories for the
provision of services and materials for drug depgient and clinical trials.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the liabifigthod. Deferred tax assets and liabilities aregeized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences betwe=firthncial statement carrying amounts of existingets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases and operating loss carryforwards. Defaere assets and liabilities are measured usingtethdax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary déffices are expected to be recovered or settledeffdat on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recogniethcome in the period that includes the enactndei.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed based upomdigited average number of common shares outsigualdiring the year. The
Companys diluted net loss per share is the same as iis basloss per share because all stock optionsawis, and other potentially diluti
securities are antidilutive and, therefore, exctuftem the calculation of diluted net loss per ghar

Segment Information

The Company currently operates in one businesseamignvhich is the development and commercializatdopharmaceutical products
for the treatment of metabolic and endocrine diseassociated with insulin resistance. The Comgamanaged and operated as one
business. A single management team that repottetGhief Executive Officer comprehensively manapesentire business. The Company
does not operate separate lines of business vafiece to its products or product candidates. Adoghg, the Company does not have
separately reportable segments as defined by FASBrSent No. 131Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise andtéglaformation

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assas it affect the amounts reported in the conatditifinancial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could diffenfrihhose estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting &ieats Board (FASB) issued a revision of Stateme&Rtr@ancial Accounting
Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Ray@mtement 123(R)), which is a revision of FASBtement No. 123, Accounting for
StockBased Compensation. Statement 123(R) supersede©Ofibn No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Hoypes, and amends FA
Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows. Gegeth# approach in Statement 123(R) is similahtodpproach described in Statement
123. Statement 123(R) will be adopted by Insmedrparated on July 1, 2005.
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INSMED INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

As permitted by Statement 123, Insmed Incorporatetently accounts for share-based payments to@rees using Opinion 25’s
intrinsic value method and, as such, generallygezes no compensation cost for employee stockogtiHowever, Statement 123(R)
requires all sharbased payments to employees, including grants pf@mae stock options, to be recognized in the inrestatement based
their fair values over the expected period of servi

The full impact of adoption of Statement 123(R)matrbe predicted at this time because it will deben levels of share-based
payments granted in the future. However, had Insimedrporated adopted Statement 123(R) in prioioper the impact of that standard
would have approximated the impact of Statementak?@escribed in the disclosure of pro forma nedrime and earnings per share in Note 1
to the consolidated financial statements. Staterh28¢R) also requires the benefits of tax dedustiarexcess of recognized compensation
cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rathen as an operating cash flow as required uculeent literature. This requirement will
reduce net operating cash flows and increase matding cash flows in periods after adoption. Indimeorporated is unable to estimate w
those amounts will be in the future because th@gdéd on, among other things, when employees exestigk options.

Operational Restructuring

On September 10, 2002, the Company announced thatld immediately discontinue the internal deyahent of one of its
investigational drug candidates, INS-1, based err¢isults of the then recently completed Phasknital trials. At December 31, 2004,
approximately $0.4 million of the related restrugig costs remain accrued in the current portiothefrestructuring reserve and $0.3 million
in the long-term portions of the restructuring rese These balances are expected to closely appataithe remaining costs to be incurred by
the Company for lease obligations. Lease terminatasts are anticipated to extend through 2006.

2. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock

On November 19, 2004 Insmed Incorporated concliadedvate placement of 6,455,551 shares of comrtamk $0 a group of
institutional investors at a price of $1.35 perrshaaising a total of approximately $8.7 millieeceived in gross proceeds. The placement
agent in the transaction received approximately2JBI0 in fees and expenses (including fees pdide@lacement agestattorneys) resultir
in net proceeds to the Company of approximatel® $&@llion. The Company also issued warrants to pase an additional 3,227,775 shares
of common stock with an exercise price of $2.00gt&re.

Periodically, the Company has issued shares of ammstock in exchange for services provided by $i@ders and others. These
issuances have been recorded at their estimatedhfae at the time of the respective transactams corresponding amounts have been
reflected as expense in the accompanying consetidaatements of operations.
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INSMED INCORPORATED
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Stock Warrants and Options

The Company issues stock options to attract amdhrekecutive officers, key employees, non-emplaiesctors and other non-
employee advisors and service providers. The maximumber of shares issuable under the plan is §2800ptions may be granted at the
discretion of the board of directors, compensatiommittee or a delegate. The weighted-average/ddire of options granted during 2004,
2003, and 2002 was $2.12, $1.72, and $1.36 respictA summary of stock option activity is as fls:

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise

Description 2004 Price 2003 Price 2002 Price
Options outstanding at Januar 3,900,511 $ 4.0€ 3,250,227 $ 4.4¢ 3,14356. $ 6.11
Granted 976,00( 2.1z 1,349,001 1.7z 1,984,75 1.9¢
Exercisec (6,097 0.5C (53,17) 1.01 (198,287 0.64
Cancellec (6,000 2.2C (645,540 1.5¢ (1,679,80) 5.01
Options outstanding at December 4,864,42! $ 3.6¢ 3,900,511 $ 4.0¢ 3,250,22° $ 4.4¢

The following table summarizes options outstandih@ecember 31, 2004:
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted

Avef?@!e Weighted Weighted

Number Remaining Average Average
. Outstanding Contractual Exercise Price Exercise Price

Range of Exercise Number
Prices Life Exercisable

$0.172-$1.00 690,81: 5.3Z 0.74 352,36! 0.72
$1.06 -$2.92 1,985,43 6.65 1.9¢ 413,00: 1.9¢
$3.00 -$8.25 1,737,79. 4.04 4.3t 900,78 4.81
$8.30 —-$32.12 450,38¢ 2.61 13.0¢ 450,38¢ 13.0¢
4,864,42! 5.1t 3.7C 2,116,54. 5.34

A total of 11,463,585 shares of common stock wesenved at December 31, 2004 in connection wittkstptions, stock warrants, and
the employee stock purchase plan.

3. Income Taxes

The deferred tax assets of approximately $104.Romiand $93.8 million at December 31, 2004 and3208spectively, arise primarily
due to net operating loss carryforwards for incaaxepurposes. Due to the Company’s anticipateddutsses, these amounts have been
entirely offset by a valuation allowance.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company hadpertating loss carryforwards for income tax purgasfeapproximately $261.0
million and $232.8 million, respectively, expirifigvarious years beginning in 2005 through 2024lidadtion of these carryforwards will be
significantly limited due to changes in the owngusbf the Company’s common stock.
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Deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of thiofeing at December 31.:

2004 2003

(in thousands)
Deferred tax asset:

General Business Cred 4,22¢ 4,22¢
Other 1,10¢ 1,174
NOL Carryforwards 99,06« 88,38t
Total deferred tax asset: 104,39: 93,78
Deferred tax liabilities
Other (229 2
Total deferred tax liabilities (229 (2
Tax deferred asset/(liability) 104,17(  93,78:
Valuation allowance (104,17 (93,78

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) — —

The differences between the U.S. federal statutoryate and the Company’s effective tax rate arilows:

200¢ 200:
Statutory federal tax ra 34% 34%
State income taxes net of federal ber 4 4
Research and development cre — (45)
Other 0 0
Change in valuation allowan: (38 6
Total Expenst 0% 0%

4. Leases

The Company leases office and laboratory spacdan &llen, Virginia under an operating lease agreetexpiring in October 2006.
The lease provides for monthly rent of approxima$d0,500 for the office space and $28,000 forlahespace with a 1.75% escalation per
year. With the discontinuation of I-1 and subsequent abandonment of the lab spaceptieany recognized $1.2 million of restructuring
charge relating to this lease during the third terasf 2003. The Company also leases a manufagttamility and warehouse in Boulder,
Colorado under an operating lease agreement egpitrifebruary 2008. The lease provides for monthhyt of approximately $30,000 with a
3% escalation per year. The Company also leasehkiale@ and office equipment. Future minimum payra@mt all these leases at December
31, 2004 approximate $1,153,000, $861,000, $365808,700 and $12,500 in 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008 2809 respectively. Rent expense
for all operating leases approximated $869,00M¥2 $535,000 in 2003, and $702,000 in 2002.

5. Employee Benefit Plans

In 2000, the Company adopted a stock purchasevwtaneby eligible employees may purchase commork skarchases may be made
through payroll deductions subject to annual litigtas. The purchase price per share under theipldne lesser of 85% of the fair market
value of a share of common stock at the beginnfregaoh offering period or 85% of the fair markelieaon the date the purchase is made. As
of December 31, 2004 there were 250,000 sharesrzed for issuance under the plan and 147,991 haega issued.
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The Company also maintains a tax-qualified empl®géngs and retirement plan, (the “401(k) plawf)dligible employees.
Participating employees may defer up to the less86% of W-2 compensation or the maximum amouningtted by the Internal Revenue
Code, as amended. The 401(k) plan permits the Coyrpamake matching contributions on behalf ofpaliticipants who have elected to
make deferrals. To date, the Company has not nragdeamntributions to the plan.

6. License and Collaborative Agreements

Tzamal Pharmaceutical

In October 2004, we entered into a letter of inf@omotion agreement with Tzamal Pharma, a subgidiaFox Pharma headquartered
in Jerusalem Israel. The agreement calls for Tzaolaé our exclusive distributor in Israel and Btafgan autonomous territories, West Bank
and Gaza. The agreement has a term of one yearathe anniversary of the agreement it may be redesa joint agreement between
Insmed and Tzamal for another twelve months.

Fujisawa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

In January 2004, Insmed was granted a non-excllisaese to patent rights pertaining to the uskét-1 therapy for the treatment of
extreme or severe insulin resistant diabetes frajis&®va Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Under the ternthefagreement, Insmed obtained
worldwide rights in territories (excluding Japam)ave a valid patent claim exists, including thet&ahiStates and Europe. We have made a
commitment to use reasonable commercial effortaake rhiGF-l/rhIGFBP-3 available on a hamed patiesis to patients with extreme
insulin resistance.

Pharmacia

In August 2002 we entered into an agreement witr@hcia that grants us an exclusive license tord@a’s portfolio of regulatory
filings pertaining to rhIGF-I. In consideration ftire exclusive license we have agreed to makepkeraailable to the 17 Growth Hormone
Insensitivity Syndrome (GHIS) subjects that wereviimusly being treated with rhiGF-I supplied by Bhacia.

Avecia Limited

In July 2002, we entered into an agreement withcleveimited, Europe’s largest privately held spégiahemical company, for the
process development and manufacture of rhIGF-I/EB-3. In consideration for this process developgraed manufacturing agreement, we
have paid for process development and manufactensts associated with production of rhIGF-I/rh1GFB.

Taisho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

In July 2000, the Company entered into an agreemightTaisho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Taisho”j the development and
commercialization of INS-1 in Japan and certaireothsian countries. The collaboration included payta upon achievement of certain
development and regulatory milestones as well @asdbeipt of royalties on INS-1 sales in Japanthadther Asian countries covered by the
agreement. Taisho also funded 20% of the developomsts for INS-1 in North America and Europe. Depenent costs reimbursable by
Taisho approximated $1.6 million in 2002. The agrert also provided for an initial license fee of@gillion, which was previously being
amortized into revenue, on a straight-line basisy the estimated life of the corresponding patdntaddition, Taisho purchased 93,413
shares of the Company’s common stock in 2000.

In September 2002, Taisho indicated its intent@discontinue its involvement in any future devetgmt in INS-1, and terminated the
joint development agreement in accordance withehas of the agreement. As
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result of this termination the Company recognizeziremaining amount of the deferred license fe&lof million in the 2002. In April of
2003 the Company repurchased the 93,413 sharesmkd Incorporated stock that was being held bghbai

UVA Patent Foundation

In 1988, the Company entered into a license agreewith The University of Virginia Alumni PatentoEndation (the “Foundation”).
The agreement, as amended, provides the Compamawiéxclusive, worldwide license to develop arldpseducts related to certain patent
rights for insulin resistance and associated desrdlrhe Company discontinued the developmentarfumts covered under this license and
terminated this agreement on June 29, 2004.

7. Legal Proceedings

On December 20, 2004, Tercica, Inc. filed a conmplagainst Avecia Limited and Insmed Incorporatethe United Kingdom at the
High Court of Justice, Chancery Division, Patentsi€ alleging infringement of EP patent No. 571,41fie 417 patent”). The ‘417 patent
has claims directed to particular uses of a contiminaf IGFBP-3 and IGF-I. In the complaint, Terzjdnc. asked the court for an injunction
to restrain allegedly infringing activity, for adaration that the ‘417 patent is valid and infiedg for an order requiring the delivery or
destruction of allegedly infringing articles andteréals and for an inquiry into possible economacnages.

On February 11, 2005, Avecia and Insmed Incorpdrfited a Defense and Counterclaim to Tercica ksduit. In its Defense, Avecia
and Insmed Incorporated asserted, among otherghiihgt the ‘417 patent is invalid and that theil@#mt failed to properly register its
license. In its Counterclaim, Avecia and Insmea alsked the court to revoke the ‘417 patent.

Insmed Incorporated cannot predict with certaihty dutcome of this proceeding. We note, howevat,ah adverse ruling could impact
our ability to make, use or sell our products.

Tercica, Inc. and Genentech, Inc. filed, on Decam23e 2004, a complaint against Insmed Incorporatetie United States District
Court for the Northern District of California alleg infringement of U.S. patent Nos. 5,187,151 &r881,414. These patents are directed to
certain methods of using IGF-I/IGFBP-3 and methaidgroducing human IGF-I, respectively. On FebrubBy 2005, Tercica, Inc. and
Genentech, Inc. filed an Amended Complaint, addifegations of infringement of U.S. patent No. 8287 (“the ‘287 patent”). The claims
of the ‘287 patent are directed to DNA encoding Bfi%e. IGFBP-3) and recombinant constructs, tramséd host cells and methods for
using same.

On February 18, 2005, Insmed Incorporated filedo#ion to dismiss the Amended Complaint. In the ortinsmed Incorporated
asserted that all alleged activities fall withie ttatutory safe-harbor provided by 35 U.S.C. §&{(1), commonly called the clinical trial
exemption. This exemption prevents patent infringetractions from being filed against activitiess@aably related to obtaining FDA
approval of a product, such as when the produstilideing tested in clinical trials. Insmed Inporated further asserted, among other things,
that Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim foe tiequested relief, have not sued the proper paaiye failed to name all the proper plaintiffs
and have failed to establish the existence of ficgurfitly real and substantial controversy betwtdenparties. Insmed requested immediate
dismissal or Summary Judgment against the plamtifegation on these grounds.

Insmed Incorporated cannot predict with certaihty dutcome of this proceeding, however, an adweils®y could impact our ability to
make, use or sell our products.
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8. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Fiscal Quarter

First Second Third Fourth
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Revenue:! $ 61 $ 62 $ 29 $ 34 $ 24 $ 27 $ 23 $ 27
Operating Los: (4,83%) (2,307 (9,060 (3,319 (7,647 (2,46%) (5,887 (2,509
Net Loss (4,759 (2,209 (9,017) (3,240 (7,596 (2,399 (5,837 (2,45))
Net Loss Per Shal
(Basic and Diluted $(0.12 $@©07) $(029) $(010 $@©20 $((©.06 $(0.19 $ (0.06

9. Subsequent Events

On March 15, 2005, we entered into several purchgssements with a group of institutional investprgsuant to which we issued and
sold to the investors approximately $35,000,000eggte principal amount of 5.5% convertible notasich notes are convertible into our
common stock, par value $0.01 per share, as welbasants to purchase, in the aggregate, 14,86488%s of our common stock, at an
exercise price of $1.36 per share. The principa&awh note will mature and be payable in nine gulgrinstallments of approximately
$3,890,000 commencing on March 1, 2008. Any outitannotes must be repaid in cash or converted asc1, 2010. Commencing on
June 1, 2005, the notes will bear interest at@eb5.5% per annum and is payable quarterly consingron March 1, 2008. The holders of
the notes may convert the notes into our commarksiba conversion price of $1.295 per share asstat] in accordance with certain
adjustments for stock splits, dividends and the &kany time prior to the close of business oncldr, 2010. The notes are convertible into,
in the aggregate, 27,027,027 shares of our commagk.sThe warrants are immediately exercisablelhB64,883 shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $1.36 per shareviidreants will expire on March 15, 2010. The holdafrthe notes have the right to require us
to repurchase the notes with cash payments upeoodturrence of specified “events of default” areptirchase events.” The investors also
have the right to participate in future financingalertaken by us prior to March 16, 2005, subjecktrtain exceptions. In connection with
issuance of the notes and warrants, we enteredégtstration rights agreements with the invespansuant to which we agreed to file a
Registration Statement under the Securities A&93i3, registering for resale the shares of comnmerksssuable upon the conversion of the
notes or exercise of the warrants.

F-15



Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

3.1

4.€

4.8

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Title

Articles of Incorporation of Insmed Incorporated,aanended (previously filed as Annex H to the JBaixy
Statement/Prospectus contained in Part | of Indmealporated’s Registration Statement on Form Rep(stration No.
333-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Insmed Incorporgeviously filed as Annex | to the Joint Proxy
Statement/Prospectus contained in Part | of Indmeatporated’s Registration Statement on Form 8ef(stration No.
333-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Form of Articles of Amendment to Insmed IncorpodigeArticles of Incorporation, as amended, creatintew series of
Preferred Stock designated as Series A Juniordizating Preferred Stock (previously filed as Exhibto the Rights
Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2001, between Indnxporated and First Union National Bank, ashi&gAgent, filed
as Exhibit 4.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registrattatement on Form 8-A filed with the Securitied &xchange
Commission on May, 17, 2001 and incorporated hdrgireference)

Amendment for Reverse Split (previously filed ahibi 3.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s Annual ReportFammm 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2003 and incorporateihhby reference

Description of Capital Stock (contained in the Alds of Incorporation filed as Exhibit 3.:

Specimen stock certificate representing commorkstR@1 par value per share, of the Registrant{pusly filed as
Exhibit 4.2 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registratidat&ment on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-30098)iacorporated
herein by reference

Article VI of the Articles of Incorporation of Insad Incorporated (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1nemed Incorporated’
Registration Statement on Forr-4 (Registration No. 3:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Rights Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2001, betwesmed Incorporated and First Union National BarkRights
Agent (which includes as (i) Exhibit A the form Afticles of Amendment to Insmed Incorporated’s @lgs of
Incorporation, as amended, (ii) Exhibit B the foofrRights Certificate, and (iii) Exhibit C the Surany of the Rights to
Purchase Preferred Stock) (previously filed as EixHi.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Steget on Form 8-A
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiotMay 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by refergl

Form of Rights Certificate (previously filed as Hbih B to the Rights Agreement, dated as of May2®)1, between
Insmed Incorporated and First Union National BaatkRights Agent, filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Insmedoiporated’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with thez&ities and Exchange Commission on May 17, 20@il a
incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement bybahdeen Insmed Incorporated and each of the iokest the July
2003 private placement of common stock and warrtanpsirchase common stock (previously filed as BEixHi.6 to
Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement omF8#3 (Registration No. 333-107308) on July 24,280d
incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Warrant issued by Insmed Incorporated thed the investors in July 2003 private placentdrdommon stock
and warrants to purchase common stock (previoulsly &s Exhibit 4.7 to Insmed Incorporated’s Regisbhn Statement
on Form &3 (Registration No. 3:-107308) on July 24, 2003 and incorporated hereirefgrence)

Form of Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement bybatdeen Insmed Incorporated and each of the iokest the
November 2004 private placement of common stockveardants to purchase common stock (previousliy fde Exhibi
10.1 to Insmed Incorporat’s Current Report on Forn-K on November 10, 2004 and incorporated hereireligrence)
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4.9

10.1

10.2

10.c

10.4+

10.5+4

10.6+

10.7

10.€

10.€

10.1¢

10.114

Form of Warrant issued by Insmed Incorporated tdhed the investors in November 2004 private plaeenof common stock
and warrants to purchase common stock (previoiisly &s Exhibit B to the Form of Stock and WarrBotchase Agreement
and between Insmed Incorporated and each of tlestoxs previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmeddrporated’s Current
Report on Form-K on November 10, 2004 and incorporated hereirelfigrence)

Insmed Incorporated 2000 Stock Purchase Plan @usehi filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed IncorporateRegistration Stateme
on Form -4 (Registration No. 3:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Insmed Incorporated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (presly filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Insmed IncorpordseBegistration
Statement on Form-4 (Registration No. 3:--30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Amended and Restated License Agreement betweerethBPmarmaceuticals, Inc. and the University of MiagPatent
Foundation (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 tormed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Fodn(Begistration No.
333-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Subscription, Joint Development and Operating Agreat by and among Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, In@anEorporation, plc,
Elan International Services, Ltd., and Celtrix Nevitd. dated as of April 21, 1999 (previously filad Exhibit 10.8 to Insmed
Incorporate’s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (Registration No. 3:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

License Agreement by and between Celtrix Newco atdl Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated as of 1/&drj 1999 (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Insmed Incorporated’s Régition Statement on Form S-4 (Registration N@-33098) and
incorporated herein by referenc

License Agreement by and between Celtrix Newco atdl Elan Pharmaceutical Technologies, a divisidelan Corporation,
plc, dated as of April 21, 1999 (previously filesl EExhibit 10.10 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registratbtatement on Form S-4
(Registration No. 33-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

License Agreement, dated as of April 1, 1993, betw&enentech, Inc. and Celtrix Pharmaceuticals,(previously filed as
Exhibit 10.11 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registrat8iatement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-30@88l)incorporated
herein by reference

Purchase Agreement among Insmed, Inc., Insmed Ritauticals, Inc. and certain investors named thetaied January 13,
2000 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Insmeddrporated’s Registration Statement on Form Segidration No. 333-
30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Form of Warrant of Insmed to be issued pursuafuichase Agreement among Insmed Incorporated, th&harmaceuticals,
Inc. and certain investors dated January 13, 2p@¥iously filed as Exhibit 10.13 to Insmed Incaiged’s Registration
Statement on Form-4 (Registration No. 3:--30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Form of Registration Rights Agreement among Insinedrporated, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andiceirivestors party t
the Purchase Agreement among Insmed Incorporatsaheld Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and certain investteddlanuary 13, 20!
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Insmed Incorgted’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Regish No. 333-30098)
and incorporated herein by referenc

License Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2000, lexivilesmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Taisho PhautieakCo., Ltd.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Insmed Incorpted’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Regdish No. 333-46552)
and incorporated herein by referenc
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title
10.12 Sublease, dated March 30, 2001, between Rhodiahacinsmed Incorporated (previously filed as ExHiB.15 to Insmed
Incorporate’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001 and incaedrherein by reference
10.1: Consent to Sublease, dated as of April 12, 200bnami & W Virginia Corporation, as Landlord, Rhodie., as Tenant, and
Insmed Incorporated, as Subtenant (previously filedxhibit 10.16 to Insmed Incorporated’s QuaytB&port on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2001 and incorpdrierein by reference
10.1¢ Termination Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2088veen Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Taibaonfaceutical Co.,
Ltd (previously filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Insmecatémporated’s Annual Report of Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31,
2003 and incorporated herein by referen

10.15- Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2003, between Iddneorporated and Avecia Limited (previously filasl Exhibit 10.15 to
Insmed Incorporated’s Annual Report of Form 10-Ktfte year ended December 31, 2003 and incorpoketesin by
reference)

10.16- License and Supply Agreement, dated as of Augus2@83, between Insmed Incorporated and Pharmagigofeviously
filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Insmed Incorporated’s AahReport of Form 10-K for the year ended Decen®iei2003 and
incorporated herein by referenc

10.17 Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2004, between lddneorporated and Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D. (Incorgiedgherein by
reference)

10.18* License Agreement, dated as of January 19, 20@4eke Insmed Incorporated and Fujisawa Pharmae¢@iz., Ltd
(Incorporated herein by referenc

10.19 Form of Change of Control Agreement entered intavben Insmed Incorporated and certain of its exeewfficers.

21.1 Subsidiaries of Insmed Incorporated (previouskgdibs Exhibit 21.1 to Insmed Incorporated’s AnrRgport on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2001 and incorpaiarein by reference

23.] Consent of Ernst & Young LLF
31.1 Certification of Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D., Chairmantbie Board and Chief Executive Officer of Insmeddrporated, pursuant

Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated undeBéuearrities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putgaeSection 302 of
the Sarban«-Oxley Act of 2003

31.2 Certification of Kevin P. Tully C.G.A., TreasureméhController (Principal Financial and AccountinffiGer) of Insmed
Incorporated, pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and ¥gd}promulgated under the Securities ExchangeoAt934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 2003

32.1 Certification of Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D., Chairmantbie Board and Chief Executive Officer of Insmeddrporated, pursuant
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant tacBe2®6 of the Sarban-Oxley Act of 2003
32.2 Certification of Kevin P. Tully, Treasurer and Caniler (Principal Financial and Accounting Officex) Insmed Incorporated,

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipnt$o Section 906 of the Sarbe-Oxley Act of 2003

+ The Securities and Exchange Commission has graot&itlential treatment with respect to certain infation in these exhibits. The
confidential portions of these exhibits have bemitted and filed separately with the Securities Brdhange Commissio

* Confidential treatment has been requested foriogptations of this exhibit. The confidential pantis of this exhibit have been omitted :
filed separately with the Securities and Exchangm@ission.
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Exhibit 10.19
AGREEMENT
This Agreement dated as of , is entered into by and between (“Employee”) and Insmed Incorporated, a Virginia

corporation (“Insmed”).

Employee and Insmed hereby agree to the followengs$ and conditions:

1. Purpose of AgreementThe purpose of this Agreement is to provide thrathe event of a “Change in Control,” Employee may
become entitled to receive additional benefithmevent of his termination. It is believed that &xistence of these potential benefits will
benefit Insmed by discouraging turnover and causuap employee to be more able to respond to thsilmtity of a Change in Control
without being influenced by the potential effeceo€hange in Control on his job security.

2. Change in Control. As used in this Agreement, “Change in Control” mgean event or occurrence set forth in any one oerab
subsections (a) through (d) below (including amnéwe occurrence that constitutes a Change in Gbahder one of such subsections bt



specifically exempted from another such subsection)

(a) the acquisition by an individual, entity or gpo(within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 142))of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) (ar$®n”) of beneficial ownership of any capital &tof Insmed if, after such acquisition,
such Person beneficially owns (within the meanihBuae 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act 40 more of either (x) the then-
outstanding shares of common stock of Insmed @wstanding Company Common Stock”) or (y) the carablivoting power of the then-
outstanding securities of Insmed entitled to vaeegally in the election of directors (the “Outstany Company Voting Securities”);
provided, however, that for purposes of this sutise¢a), the following acquisitions shall not ctihge a Change in Control: (i) any
acquisition directly from Insmed (excluding an aisifion pursuant to the exercise, conversion ohexge of any security exercisable for,
convertible into or exchangeable for common stackating securities of Insmed, unless the Persamaising, converting or exchanging st
security acquired such security directly from Insinoe an underwriter or agent of Insmed), (ii) asgusition by Insmed, (iii) any acquisition
by any employee benefit plan (or related trusthspoed or maintained by Insmed or any corporatantrolled by Insmed, or (iv) any
acquisition by any corporation pursuant to a tratisa which complies with clauses (i) and (ii) afosection (c) of this Section 2; or

(b) such time as the Continuing Directors (as afibelow) do not constitute a majority of the Boaf®irectors of Insmed (the
“Board”) (or, if applicable, the Board of Directon$ a successor corporation to Insmed), wheredima tContinuing Director” means at any
date a member of the Board (i) who was a memb#reoBoard on the date of the execution of this Agrent or (ii) who was nominated or
elected subsequent to such date by at least aitgajbthe directors who were Continuing Directatshe time of such nomination or election
or whose election to the Board was recommendedduorsed by at least a majority of the directors wieoe Continuing Directors at the time
of such nomination or election;
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provided, however, that there shall be excludethftis clause (ii) any individual whose initial asgption of office occurred as a result of an
actual or threatened election contest with resteettte election or removal of directors or othemator threatened solicitation of proxies or
consents, by or on behalf of a person other thatard; or

(c) the consummation of a merger, consolidatioorganization, recapitalization or statutory shatehenge involving Insmed or a
sale or other disposition of all or substantiallyofithe assets of Insmed in one or a seriesasfdactions (a “Business Combination”), unless,
immediately following such Business Combinatiorgleaf the following two conditions is satisfied} &ll or substantially all of the
individuals and entities who were the beneficiahews of the Outstanding Company Common Stock artdt@nding Company Voting
Securities immediately prior to such Business Comatidon beneficially own, directly or indirectly, methan 60% of the then-outstanding
shares of common stock and the combined voting pofvihe thensutstanding securities entitled to vote generallthie election of director
respectively, of the resulting or acquiring corgilmain such Business Combination (which shalluie, without limitation, a corporation
which as a result of such transaction owns Insniesibstantially all of the Insmeslassets either directly or through one or morsididries)
(such resulting or acquiring corporation is refdrte herein as the “Acquiring Corporation”) in stégtially the same proportions as their
ownership, immediately prior to such Business Caoration, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock@umidtanding Company Voting
Securities, respectively; and (ii) no Person (ediclg the Acquiring Corporation or any employee Bigqpdan (or related trust) maintained or
sponsored by Insmed or by the Acquiring Corporatlmeneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 40% orore of the then outstanding shares of
common stock of the Acquiring Corporation, or of tombined voting power of the then-outstandingisges of such corporation entitled to
vote generally in the election of directors (exdepthe extent that such ownership existed pridghéoBusiness Combination); or

(d) approval by the stockholders of Insmed of aplete liquidation or dissolution of Insmed.

3. Rights and Obligations Prior to a Change in Control. Prior to a Change in Control the rights and dadiligns of Employee with
respect to his employment by Insmed shall be wieateghts and obligations are negotiated betwesméd and Employee from time to time.
The existence of this Agreement, which deals witthsrights and obligations subsequent to a Cham@ontrol, shall not be treated as rais
any inference with respect to what rights and atilans exist prior to a Change in Control unlesscjtally stated elsewhere in this
Agreement.

4. Effect of a Change in Control. In the event of a Change in Control and the Eyg®ts employment is terminated pursuant to a
“Qualifying Termination” (as set forth below) on prior to the date that is within twelve (12) monttf the effective date of the Change in
Control (the “Change in Control Date”), the Empleyghall be entitled to the severance payments tired benefits set forth in this
Agreement.
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5. Qualifying Termination . If, subsequent to a Change in Control, Employeehployment terminates within one year of the @kan
Control Date, such termination shall be consider€lialifying Termination unless:

(a) Employee voluntarily terminates employment. tdwer, it shall not be considered a voluntary teation of employment if,
following the Change in Control, Employee’s compaitn or duties are changed in any material redpect what they were immediately
prior to a Change in Control, and subsequent th shange Employee elects to terminate employmefthange in any material respect”
shall encompass (i) any significant diminution imidoyee’s position, authority, duties, respondiigiti, or reporting relationship, (ii) any
material reduction in Employee’s then compensagiod/or benefits, unless such reduction is an adhesboard reduction of the
compensation and/or benefits of all similarly sieghexecutives(iii) any change in Employeg’job location to a site more than 50 miles a
from his place of employment prior to the Chang€antrol or (iv) the failure of Insmed to obtairethgreement of any successor to Insm
assure and agree to perform this Agreement.

(b) The termination is on account of Employee’stdea disability. As used herein, “disability” refeto an illness or accident that
causes Employee to be unable to perform the dotibis job for at least six consecutive monthsjetermined by a physician mutually
acceptable to Insmed and the Employee.

(c) Employee is involuntarily terminated for “Catser it is determined that the facts conclusivédgmonstrate that Employee
would have been terminated had any of the evehfedh in clauses (i) through (iii) below had bderown at the date of termination. For 1
purpose “Cause” means:

(i) the Employee’s willful and continued failure $abstantially perform his reasonable assignecardftither than any such
failure resulting from incapacity due to physicaheental iliness or any failure after the Emplogéees notice of termination for any of
the reasons set forth in Section 5(a)), which faiis not cured within 60 days after a written dathfor substantial performance is
received by the Employee from the Chief Executiyficer which specifically identifies the mannenarhich the Chief Executive Offic
believes the Employee has not substantially perariris duties;

(i) the Employee’s willful engagement in illegadreduct or gross misconduct that is materially a@ohonstrably injurious to
Insmed; or

(iii) the Employee’s conviction of a felony invohg a crime of moral turpitude.
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For purposes of this Section 5(c), no act or failaract by the Employee shall be considered “willfinless it is done, or omitted to be done,
in bad faith and without reasonable belief thatEngployee’s action or omission was in the bestéasis of Insmed.

6. Constructive Qualifying Termination . If within six months prior to a Change in ContExhployee’s employment terminates as a
result of any change described in Section 5(ahisfAgreement, Employee shall be entitled to thepensation, payments and other benefits
that the Employee would have received if such teatidon had occurred after a Change in Control.

7. Date and Notice of Termination. Any termination of Employee’s employment by Inshee by Employee shall be communicated by
a written notice of termination to the other pdttye “Notice of Termination”). Where applicableetNotice of Termination shall indicate the
specific termination provision in this Agreemeriigé upon and shall set forth in reasonable détailfacts and circumstances claimed.

8. Severance PaymentsIf Employee is terminated as a result of a Qyadd Termination, Insmed shall pay Employee witBihdays
of said Qualifying Termination a cash lump sum édud times Employee’s “Compensation” as a sevexggayment (“Severance Payment”).

(a) “Compensation” means the sum of Employee’sédsghnnual salary rate (i.e. the Employee’s higtagetof annual salary
while an employee of Insmed) plus a bonus calcdlatemultiplying an employee’s annual salary by itieximum bonus potential for the
change of control year prorated as of the datbefthange of Control.

(b) In lieu of a cash lump sum, Employee may, atdmtion, elect in writing to receive the paymeamiavided by this Section 8 in
equal monthly installments over 18 months.

(c) The Severance Payment set forth in this Se&iisnin lieu of any severance payments that Emgdayight otherwise be
entitled to receive from Insmed under the termargf severance pay arrangement not referred tasrireement.

9. Stock Option Grants and Other Forms of Employee Cormpensation. In the event of a Change in Control, (i) all $teptions then
held by Employee shall remain exercisable for #mmtof the option period set forth in his optiomesgment(s), and (ii) any restricted stock
held by Employee shall remain subject to the retidns set forth in his restricted stock agreement.

10. Additional Benefits . In the event of a Qualifying Termination, Insne¥ghll continue to provide to the Employee healéntdl,
long-term disability, life insurance, continuatiohD&O insurance, and the other fringe benefits thamployee received prior to the
Qualifying Termination on the same terms and camalit as though the Employee had remained
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an active employee of Insmed for the 18 month geiamediately subsequent to the Qualifying Termoratinsmed shall provide COBRA
benefits to the Employee following the end of thssmonth period, such benefits to be determinagti@sgh the Employee’s employment had
terminated at the end of such period.

11.Taxes.

(a) The benefits that an Employee may be entite@¢eive under this Agreement and other bendfitsan Employee is entitled
receive under other plans, agreements and arramgefvehich, together with the benefits provided emithis Plan, are referred to as
“Payments”), may constitute Parachute Paymentsattgasubject to the “golden parachute” rules otiSe@80G of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986 (the “Codegnd the excise tax of Code Section 4999. As pravidehis Section 11, the Parachute Payments willdaluced if
and only to the extent that, a reduction will allaw Employee to receive a greater Net After Tax Antadhan an Employee would receive
absent a reduction.

(b) The Accounting Firm will first determine the ammt of any Parachute Payments that are payalale Employee. The
Accounting Firm also will determine the Net Afteax@ Amount attributable to the Employee’s total Bhtde Payments.

(c) The Accounting Firm will next determine thedast amount of Payments that may be made to théoge®gwithout subjecting
the Employee to tax under Code Section 4999 (ttepf@d Payments”). Thereafter, the Accounting Fiithdetermine the Net After Tax
Amount attributable to the Capped Payments.

(d) The Employee will receive the total ParachuagrRents or the Capped Payments, whichever protideEmployee with the
higher Net After Tax Amount. If the Employee widaeive the Capped Payments, the total Parachutedpay will be adjusted by first
reducing the amount of any noncash benefits ulderigreement or any other plan, agreement or genaent (with the source of the
reduction to be directed by the Employee) and thereducing the amount of any cash benefits uriderAgreement or any other plan,
agreement or arrangement (with the source of tihecteon to be directed by the Employee). The ActimgnFirm will notify the Employee
and Insmed if it determines that the Parachute Baysmust be reduced to the Capped Payments drebnd the Employee and Insmed a
copy of its detailed calculations supporting thetiedmination.

(e) As a result of the uncertainty in the applicatof Code Sections 280G and 4999 at the timetiieaf\ccounting Firm makes its
determinations under this Section 11, it is possibht amounts will have been paid or distributethe Employee that should not have been
paid or distributed under this Section 11 (“Ovenpawnts”),or that additional amounts should be paid or disted to the Employee under t
Section 11 (“Underpayments”). If the Accountingriridetermines, based on either the assertion dficietecy by the Internal Revenue
Service against Insmed or the Employee, which #ssghe Accounting Firm believes has a high pralisiof success or controlling
precedent or substantial authority, that an
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Overpayment has been made, that Overpayment wiitelaged for all purposes as a laninitio that the Employee must repay to Insmed
together with interest at the applicable Federta vamder Code Section 7872; provided, however,rthddan will be deemed to have been
made and no amount will be payable by the Emplégdasmed unless, and then only to the extent thatdeemed loan and payment would
either reduce the amount on which the Employeahgest to tax under Code Section 4999 or generadéuad of tax imposed under Code
Section 4999. If the Accounting Firm determinesdshupon controlling precedent or substantial aitthahat an Underpayment has
occurred, the Accounting Firm will notify the Empgke and Insmed of that determination and the amaiuthiat Underpayment will be paid
the Employee promptly by Insmed.

(f) For purposes of this Section 11, the followtegns shall have their respective meanings:

(i) “Accounting Firm” means the independent accaumfirm engaged by Insmed immediately before thar@e in Control
Date.

(i) “Net After Tax Amount” means the amount of aRgrachute Payments or Capped Payments, as apglicabof taxes
imposed under Code Sections 1, 3101(b) and 499amn&tate or local income taxes applicable tcEmgployee on the date of
payment. The determination of the Net After Tax Ambshall be made using the highest combined éffecate imposed by the
foregoing taxes on income of the same charactdreaBarachute Payments or Capped Payments, asadgpliin effect on the date of
payment.

(iii) “Parachute Payment” means a payment thae&cdbed in Code Section 280G(b)(2), determineatoordance with
Code Section 280G and the regulations promulgat@daposed thereunder.

12.Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall be effective from through . Insmed may, in its sole discretion and for
reason, provide written notice of termination (effee as of the then applicable expiration dateiigployee no later than 60 days before
expiration date of this Agreement. If written netis not so provided, this Agreement shall be aatarally extended for an additional period
of 12 months past the expiration date. This Agregraball continue to be automatically extendedafoadditional twelve (12) months at the
end of such 12-month period and each succeedingdi®h period unless notice is given in the manescdbed in this Section 12.

13.Governing Law . Except to the extent that federal law is applieathis Agreement is made and entered into irCtbeimonwealth
of Virginia and the laws of Virginia shall goverts validity and interpretation in the performangetive parties hereto of their respective
duties and obligations hereunder.
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14.Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreemetuwtden the parties respecting the compensatiome@atg and
benefits due Employee in the event of a Changeomti@l followed by a Qualifying Termination, ancetle are no representations, warranties
or commitments, other than those set forth hekelnich relate to such benefits. This Agreement magimended or modified only by an
instrument in writing executed by Insmed and thepkaryee.

15.No Duty to Mitigate . Employee shall not be required to mitigate th@amnt of any payment contemplated by this Agreement
(whether by seeking new employment or in any othanner), nor shall any earnings that Employee raegive from any other source redi
any such payment.

16. Successors: Binding Agreement

(a) Assumption by Successor. Insmed shall requiyesaccessor (whether direct or indirect, by pusehanerger, consolidation or
otherwise) to all or substantially all of the biesis or assets of Insmed expressly to assume agglde to perform its obligations under this
Agreement in the same manner and to the same @Rtrihsmed would be required to perform suchgations if no such assumption had
occurred. As used herein, Insmed shall mean argessor to its business and/or assets as aforésdidssumes and agrees to perform its
obligations by operation of law or otherwise.

(b) Enforceability by Beneficiaries. This Agreemshall be binding upon and inure to the benefEwiployee (and Employee’s
personal representatives and heirs) and Insmedmndrganization which succeeds to substantiallgfahe business or assets of Insmed,
whether by means of merger, consolidation, acdoisitf all or substantially all of the assets ofrired or otherwise, including, without
limitation, as a result of a Change in Controlbgroperation of law. This Agreement shall inurehe benefit of and be enforceable by
Employee’s personal or legal representatives, érexuadministrators, successors, heirs, distrégjtdevisees and legatees. If the Employee
should die while any amount would still be payablsuch Employee hereunder if he had continuedvég &ll such amounts, unless otherwise
provided herein, shall be paid in accordance withterms of this Agreement to his designee ohgfé is no such designee, to his estate.

17.Confidentiality . Employee acknowledges that in the course of tigleyment with Insmed, he has acquired non-pubiidlpged
or confidential information and trade secrets comicg the operations, future plans and methodoofglbusiness (“Proprietary Information”
of Insmed, and the Employee agrees that it wouleXtieemely damaging to Insmed if such Proprietafgrimation were disclosed to a
competitor of Insmed or to any other person or esmapon. Employee understands and agrees thatgrietary Information Employee has
acquired during the course of such employment kas divulged to Employee in confidence and furthreterstands and agrees to keep all
Proprietary Information secret and confidentiald@pt for such information which is or becomes piplavailable other than as a result of a
breach by Employee of this provision) without ligtion in time. In view of the
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nature of Employee’s employment and the Proprieiiafigrmation Employee has acquired during the cewfssuch employment, Employee
likewise agrees that Insmed would be irreparablynieal by any disclosure of Proprietary Informatinrviolation of the terms of this Section
16 and that Insmed shall therefore be entitledétiminary and/or permanent injunctive relief proking Employee from engaging in any
activity or threatened activity in violation of therms of this Section and to any other judicidiEfeavailable to it. Inquiries regarding whether
specific information constitutes Proprietary Infation shall be directed to Insmed’s General Coufmelf such position is vacant, Insmed'’s
Chairman of the Compensation Committee); provithesyever, that Insmed shall not unreasonably chagsibrmation as Proprietary
Information.

18.Non-Competition.
(a) For a period of twelve (12) months after theni@ation of Employee’s employment with Insmed, Hoype will not:

(i) as an individual proprietor, partner, stocktasldofficer, director, employee, director, jointerer, investor, lender, or in
any capacity whatsoever (other than as the holideotomore than one percent (1%) of the total amding stock of a publicly held
company), engage in any business that competedlgiveith the products or services provided by leshat the time of termination or
for which definitive Insmed plans then exist topsovide such products or services;

(i) directly or indirectly recruit or solicit angerson who is then an employee of Insmed or wasrgioyee of Insmed at a
time within six months prior to such retirementsoticitation; or

(iii) solicit, divert or take away, or attempt tovert or to take away, the business or patronagmypfof the clients, customers
or accounts, or prospective clients, customersoounts of Insmed.

(b) If any restriction set forth in this Section & ound by any court of competent jurisdictiorb®unenforceable because it
extends for too long a period of time or over toeag a range of activities or in too broad a geplgi@area, it shall be interpreted to extend
only over the maximum period of time, range of\ati#s or geographic area to which it may be erdalie.

(c) The restrictions contained in this Section f8recessary for the protection of the businesgyandwill of Insmed and are
considered by Employee to be reasonable for sugiopa. Employee agrees that any breach of thisdbewtll cause Insmed substantial and
irrevocable damage and therefore, in the evenhypfach breach, in addition to such other remetiigsmay be available, Insmed shall have
the right to seek specific performance and injwectelief.
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19. Outplacement Services In the event the Employee is terminated by Inso#iter than for Cause, disability or death), @ th
Employee voluntarily terminates employment for teasons set forth in Section 5(a), within twelve)(fhonths following the Change in
Control Date, Insmed shall provide outplacementises through one or more outside firms of the Eaypeé’s choosing up to an aggregate of
$10,000, with such services to extend until théiexaof (i) 12 months following termination of Engylee’s employment or (ii) the date the
Employee secures full time employment.

20. Notices. All natices, instructions and other communicasigriven hereunder or in connection herewith shalhbwriting. Any such
notice, instruction or communication shall be gattter (i) by registered or certified mail, retuateipt requested, postage prepaid, or (ii)
prepaid via a reputable nationwide overnight caw@vice, in each case addressed to Insmed ahd ®mployee at their respective
addresses set forth below (or to such other addiesgher Insmed or the Employee may have furdisbi¢he other in writing in accordance
herewith). Any such notice, instruction or commuauicn shall be deemed to have been delivered fisiness days after it is sent by
registered or certified mail, return receipt redadspostage prepaid, or two business days afitesént via a reputable nationwide overnight
courier service. Either party may give any notinstruction or other communication hereunder using other means, but no such notice,
instruction or other communication shall be deemaedtave been duly delivered unless and until waltyt is received by the party for whon
is intended.

If to Insmed:

Insmed Incorporated

4851 Lake Brook Drive

Glen Allen, Virginia 23058-2400

Attention: Chairman, Compensation Committee

If to Employee:

21.Captions. The captions of this Agreement are inserted émvenience and do not constitute a part hereof.

22.Severability . In case any one or more of the provisions coethin this Agreement shall for any reasons be teelk invalid,
illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such gl illegality or unenforceability shall not &tt any other provision of this Agreement, but
this Agreement shall be construed as if such idydlegal or unenforceable provision had nevembeentained herein and there shall be
deemed substituted such other provision as willtmearly accomplish the intent of the parties ®éhtent permitted by applicable law. In
case this Agreement, or any one or more of theigiams hereof, shall be
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held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable witlsiny governmental jurisdiction or subdivision thereéhis Agreement or any such provision
thereof shall not as a consequence thereof be dketniee invalid, illegal or unenforceable in anfi@tgovernmental jurisdiction or

subdivision thereof.

23.Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in two or morentaparts, each of which shall be deemed an ofigiu all of
which together shall constitute one and the sanredgent.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS HEREOF, the parties hereto have causisddgreement to be duly executed and delivereaf #ise day and year first
written above in Glen Allen, Virginia.

INSMED INCORPORATED

By

Witness Geoffrey Allan, President and CE

Witness Employee
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EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference imdegistration Statement filed on Form S-3 (Regi&tn Nos. 333-120639 and 333-
107308) pertaining to securities sold in July 2668 November 2004 and Form S-8 (Registration N83-8/878, 333-39198 and 333200
pertaining to the Insmed Incorporated Employee ISRirchase Plan and the Insmed Incorporated Stagntive Plan, of our reports dated
March 15, 2005, with respect to the consolidataedrftial statements of Insmed Incorporated, Insmedrporated management’s assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over fingh reporting, and the effectiveness of interraiteol over financial reporting of Insmed
Incorporated included in this Annual Report (FordaK) for the year ended December 31, 2004.

/sl Ernst & Young LL

McLean, Virginia
March 15, 2005
EXHIBIT 31.1

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OF FICER

I, Geoffrey Allan, Chairman of the Board and CHisdecutive Officer of Insmed Incorporated, certifat:
(1) 1 have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 1@Kthe year ended December 31, 2004, of Insmedrporated;

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notasnrany untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

(4) The registran$ other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamld procedures (as defir
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)jHeregistrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgding the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial stateme
for external purposes in accordance with geneeadtyepted accounting principals;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures as of the end of the period covered byréipiort based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegsegnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer antidve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2005

/sl Geoffrey Allan



Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D
Chairman of the Board and Ch
Executive Officel
(Principal Executive Officer
EXHIBIT 31.2

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OF FICER

I, Kevin P. Tully C.G.A., Treasurer and Controltdrinsmed Incorporated, certify that:
(1) 1 have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 1@Kthe year ended December 31, 2004, of Insmedrporated;

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notanrany untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

(4) The registran$ other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contemld procedures (as defir
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)jHeregistrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgding the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial stateme
for external purposes in accordance with geneeatepted accounting principals;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures as of the end of the period covered byréfpiort based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegegnt's internal control over financial reportitiit occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer antidve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2005

/sl Kevin P. Tully

Kevin P. Tully C.G.A.
Treasurer and Controlli
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office
EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fdremed Incorporated (the “Company”) for the pdrending December 31, 2004
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseinthe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Geoffreyafi, Ph.D., Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify rpuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursugh®@s of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2003, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgwAct of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and result of operations of the
Company.

/sl Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D.

Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D
Chairman of the Board and



Chief Executive Office
March 16, 2005

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003 hanhrrovided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Séesiand Exchange Commission or its staff uponesgu
EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fdremed Incorporated (the “Company”) for the pdrending December 31, 2004
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseinthe date hereof (the “Report”), |, Kevin PlIf¥uTreasurer and Controller (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer) of the Compangrtify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adoptedyant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2003, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgjwAct of 1934, as amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@alition and result of operations of the
Company.

/sl Kevin P. Tully

Kevin P. Tully C.G.A.

Treasurer and Controller

(Principal Financial and Accounting Office
March 16, 2005

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003 hanlprovided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Séesiand Exchange Commission or its staff uponesgu
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